## A Comprehensive Study of Vertex Coloring in Graph Theory: Methods, Applications, and Chromatic Polynomials

Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements For the Degree Of

## Master of Science in Applied Mathematics

Submitted by: Shruti Kaushik (23/MSCMAT/86)

Under the supervision of

## Dr. Sangita Kansal



DEPARTMENT OF APPLIED MATHEMATICS DELHI TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY (Formerly Delhi College of Engineering) Shahbad Daulatpur, Main Bawana Road, Delhi-110042, India

May 2025

### DELHI TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

(Formerly Delhi College of Engineering) Shahbad Daulatpur, Main Bawana Road, Delhi – 110042

## CANDIDATE'S DECLARATION

I, Shruti Kaushik, Roll No. 23/MSCMAT/86, hereby certify that the work which is being presented entitled "A Comprehensive Study of Vertex Coloring in Graph Theory: Methods, Applications, and Chromatic Polynomials", in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Applied Mathematics, submitted in DEPARTMENT OF APPLIED MATHEMATICS, DELHI TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY is an authentic record of my own work carried out during the period from August 2024 to May 2025 under the supervision of Dr. Sangita Kansal.

The matter presented in the thesis has not been submitted by me for the award of any other degrees of this or any other Institute.

This is to certify that the student has incorporated all the correction suggested by the examiners in the thesis and the statement made by the candidate to the best of our knowledge.

(Shruti Kaushik) Candidate (Dr. Sangita Kansal) Supervisor (External Examiner) External Examiner

#### DELHI TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY

(Formerly Delhi College of Engineering) Shahbad Daulatpur, Main Bawana Road, Delhi – 110042

#### **CERTIFICATE BY THE SUPERVISOR**

Certified that Shruti Kaushik, Roll No. 23/MSCMAT/86 has carried her research work presented in this thesis entitled "A Comprehensive Study of Vertex Coloring in Graph Theory: Methods, Applications, and Chromatic Polynomials" for the award of Master of Science in Applied Mathematics from DEPARTMENT OF APPLIED MATHEMATICS, DELHI TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY, Delhi, under my supervision. The thesis embodies results of original work, and studies are carried out by the student herself and the contents of the thesis do not form the basis for the award of any other degree to the candidate or to anybody else from this or any other University.

> (Dr. Sangita Kansal) Supervisor (Department of Applied Mathematics)

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

#### Abstract

The fundamental issue of designating labels (colors) to the vertices of a graph in a manner that ensures no two adjacent vertices share the same color is addressed by vertex coloring, a cornerstone of graph theory. This dissertation presents a comprehensive investigation into the theoretical underpinnings, algorithmic methodologies, practical applications, and analytical tools associated with vertex coloring. The core objective is to provide a holistic understanding of this rich combinatorial problem, highlighting its significance in both theoretical computer science and real-world optimization challenges.

The study commences with a thorough review of foundational concepts, establishing the necessary graph-theoretic preliminaries, including formal definitions of proper vertex coloring, k-colorability, and the chromatic number—the minimum quantity of colors necessary for a valid coloring. A significant portion of this work is dedicated to the exploration and comparative analysis of various vertex coloring algorithms. This includes exact algorithms such as systematic backtracking, which guarantees optimality but often suffers from exponential time complexity, and widely-used heuristic algorithms designed for practical efficiency on larger graphs. Among the heuristics, the dissertation details the Greedy algorithm with various vertex ordering strategies, the Degree of Saturation (DSATUR) algorithm which prioritizes vertices with the most distinctly colored neighbors, and the Recursive Largest First (RLF) algorithm known for its efficacy in finding good colorings. A particular focus is given to an adjacency matrix-based heuristic, where row sums (vertex degrees) guide the coloring process, with its procedural steps and performance characteristics illustrated through detailed examples.

A key contribution of this dissertation is the in-depth examination of chromatic polynomials,  $P(G, \lambda)$ , which enumerate the number of unique methods for coloring a graph G using a maximum of  $\lambda$  colors. The theoretical framework of chromatic polynomials, including their properties and the powerful deletion-contraction principle for their computation, is elucidated. Illustrative examples, such as the derivation of the chromatic polynomial for a pentagonal graph, demonstrate the computational process and the insights these polynomials offer into a graph's structure and colorability. The relationship between the chromatic polynomial and the chromatic number is also explored.

Furthermore, the practical relevance of vertex coloring is underscored through an extensive survey of its applications. The dissertation showcases how vertex coloring models and solves critical problems in diverse domains. Prominent among these is scheduling, exemplified by examination timetabling, where courses are vertices, student conflicts define edges, and colors represent time slots. Other significant applications discussed include register allocation in compiler design, frequency assignment in wireless communication networks, task scheduling in operating systems, and classical map coloring problems. For each application, the mapping to a graph coloring problem is clearly defined, and the benefits of applying coloring techniques are highlighted.

This study synthesizes theoretical knowledge with algorithmic approaches and practical implementations, aiming to serve as a valuable resource for researchers and practitioners. By demonstrating the effectiveness of vertex coloring techniques in enhancing resource allocation efficiency and providing deeper insights into combinatorial structures, the dissertation contributes to the broader understanding and application of graph coloring theory. The work concludes by summarizing key findings, acknowledging limitations, and proposing avenues for future research, including the development of more sophisticated hybrid algorithms and the exploration of coloring in novel application domains.

**Keywords:** Graph Coloring, Vertex Coloring, Chromatic Number, Adjacency Matrix, Backtracking, Greedy Algorithm, Degree of Saturation Algorithm (DSATUR), Recursive Largest First Algorithm (RLF), Chromatic Polynomial, Scheduling, Resource Allocation, Combinatorial Optimization.

### **DELHI TECHNOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY**

(Formerly Delhi College of Engineering) Shahbad Daulatpur, Main Bawana Road, Delhi – 110042

### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, **Dr. Sangita Kansal, DEPARTMENT OF APPLIED MATHEMATICS, DELHI TECH-NOLOGICAL UNIVERSITY, New Delhi**, for her invaluable guidance, encouragement, constructive criticism, patient hearing, and insightful suggestions throughout the course of this research and the preparation of this dissertation. Her expertise and patience were instrumental in shaping this work. I will always be appreciative of her kind, helpful, and insightful advice, which served as a catalyst for the effective completion of this dissertation report.

I am also grateful to the **DEPARTMENT OF APPLIED MATHEMATICS** for providing the necessary resources, a conducive academic environment, and continuous motivation during this project work.

I would like to extend my thanks to all faculty members and staff of the department who have contributed to my learning experience.

Finally, I am deeply thankful to my parents and family members for their unwavering support, understanding, and encouragement throughout this entire journey and for their support with this project. I also thank my friends and colleagues for their helpful discussions and moral support.

## Contents

C	onten	ts	ii
Li	st of '	Tables	vii
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Background and Motivation	1
	1.2	Problem Statement	2
	1.3	Objectives of the Study	3
	1.4	Scope and Limitations	4
	1.5	Organization of the Dissertation	5
2	Lite	rature Review	7
	2.1	Historical Overview of Graph Coloring	7
	2.2	2 Fundamental Concepts and Theorems in Graph Coloring	
	2.3	Review of Vertex Coloring Algorithms	9
		2.3.1 Exact Algorithms	9
		2.3.2 Heuristic Algorithms	10
	2.4	Chromatic Polynomials: Historical Context and Significance	12

	2.5	Appli	cations of Vertex Coloring in Various Domains	13
	2.6	Gaps	in Existing Literature and Contribution of this Study .	14
3	Prel	iminar	ies in Graph Theory and Vertex Coloring	16
	3.1	Basic	Graph Theory Definitions	16
		3.1.1	Graphs, Vertices, Edges	16
		3.1.2	Types of Graphs	17
		3.1.3	Degree of a Vertex, Adjacency, Incidence	18
		3.1.4	Paths, Cycles, Connectivity, Subgraphs, Induced Sub- graphs	18
	3.2	Vertex	Coloring: Formal Definitions	19
		3.2.1	Proper Vertex Coloring	19
		3.2.2	k-Coloring and k-Colorable Graphs	19
		3.2.3	Chromatic Number ( $\chi(G)$ )	19
		3.2.4	Cliques and Chromatic Number	20
		3.2.5	Bounds on Chromatic Number	20
	3.3	Adjac	ency Matrix Representation	21
4	Met	hods o	f Vertex Coloring	22
	4.1	Greed	y Coloring Algorithm	22
		4.1.1	Algorithm Description and Vertex Ordering	22
		4.1.2	Example and Analysis	24
		4.1.3	Complexity and Performance Bounds	25
	4.2	Backt	racking Algorithm for Vertex Coloring	25

		4.2.1	Algorithm Description and Pseudocode	25
		4.2.2	Example Walkthrough	26
		4.2.3	Complexity and Performance	28
	4.3	Adjac	ency Matrix-Based Coloring Method	28
		4.3.1	Rationale and Heuristic Basis	28
		4.3.2	Detailed Step-by-Step Procedure	28
		4.3.3	Illustrative Example: Coloring a 6-Vertex Graph	29
		4.3.4	Advantages and Disadvantages	31
4.4 Heuristic Algorithms			stic Algorithms	32
		4.4.1	Degree of Saturation Algorithm (DSATUR)	32
		4.4.2	Recursive Largest First Algorithm (RLF)	34
	4.5	Comp	parison of Vertex Coloring Methods	36
5	Chr	omatic	Polynomials	38
	5.1	Introd	luction to Chromatic Polynomials $P(G, \lambda) \dots \dots$	38
	5.2	Defini	tion and Basic Properties	39
	5.3	Deletion-Contraction Principle (Fundamental Reduction The- orem)		
	5.4	Calcul	lating Chromatic Polynomials for Standard Graphs	41
	5.5	Exam	ple: Chromatic Polynomial of a Pentagon ( $C_5$ )	42
		5.5.1	Decomposition Steps	42
		5.5.2	Derivation of the Final Polynomial	43
	5.6	Signif	icance and Applications of Chromatic Polynomials	44

6	App	olicatio	ns of Vertex Coloring	<b>46</b>
	6.1	Sched	uling and Timetabling Problems	46
		6.1.1	Exam Scheduling (Timetabling for Exams)	47
			Problem Formulation	47
			Example: University Course Scheduling	47
			Constructing and Coloring the Conflict Graph	48
			Interpreting the Solution	50
		6.1.2	Task Scheduling in Operating Systems	50
	6.2	Regist	ter Allocation in Compilers	51
6.3 Frequency Assignment in Wireless Communication .			ency Assignment in Wireless Communication	51
	6.4	Map (	Coloring	52
	6.5	Other	Applications	52
				02
7			alysis and Discussion	54
7		ther An		54
7	Furt	ther An	alysis and Discussion	<b>54</b> 54
7	Furt	t <b>her An</b> Case S	alysis and Discussion Study: Coloring a More Complex Graph (Optional)	<b>54</b> 54 55
7	Furt	ther An Case S 7.1.1	nalysis and DiscussionStudy: Coloring a More Complex Graph (Optional)Selection of a Benchmark Graph	<b>54</b> 54 55 55
7	Furt	ther An Case 9 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3	nalysis and Discussion         Study: Coloring a More Complex Graph (Optional)         Selection of a Benchmark Graph         Application of Multiple Coloring Algorithms	<b>54</b> 55 55 55
7	<b>Fur</b> 7.1	ther An Case 5 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Comp	nalysis and Discussion         Study: Coloring a More Complex Graph (Optional)         Selection of a Benchmark Graph	<b>54</b> 55 55 55
7	<b>Fur</b> 7.1 7.2	ther An Case S 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Comp NP-H	aalysis and Discussion         Study: Coloring a More Complex Graph (Optional)         Selection of a Benchmark Graph         Application of Multiple Coloring Algorithms         Comparison of Results and Observations	<b>54</b> 55 55 55 55 57
7	<b>Fur</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3	ther An Case S 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Comp NP-H Appro Streng	nalysis and Discussion         Study: Coloring a More Complex Graph (Optional)         Selection of a Benchmark Graph         Application of Multiple Coloring Algorithms         Comparison of Results and Observations         putational Complexity of Coloring Algorithms         Gardness of Graph Coloring and Its Implications	<b>54</b> 55 55 55 55 57 58

8	Conclusion and Future Work		
	8.1	Summary of Findings	61
	8.2	Contributions of the Study	63
	8.3	Limitations of the Current Work	64
	8.4	Directions for Future Research	65
Aj	ppen	dix: Plagiarism Report and Acceptance Letter	70

## List of Tables

4.1	Comparison of Vertex Coloring Algorithms	36
4.2	*	36
6.1	Course Conflicts for Exam Scheduling	48

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

#### 1.1 Background and Motivation

A powerful framework for modeling and analyzing relational structures is provided by graph theory, a captivating and swiftly evolving branch of discrete mathematics. Within this domain, the concept of graph coloring stands out as a fundamental problem with a rich history and a wide spectrum of applications. The main emphasis of this dissertation is vertex coloring, which is the process of giving a graph's vertices labels, or "colors," so that no two neighboring vertices have the same color.Many combinatorial optimization problems revolve around the goal of achieving this with the fewest possible colors, or the graph's chromatic number.

The origins of graph coloring can be traced back to the mid-19th century, with Francis Guthrie's conjecture about coloring geographical maps, which later became the renowned Four Color Theorem. While map coloring provided the initial impetus, the theoretical framework of vertex coloring has since expanded dramatically, revealing deep connections to graph structure, complexity theory, and algorithmic design. Despite its straightforward formulation, coloring problems for general graphs are extremely challenging to solve optimally; in fact, figuring out the chromatic number is a classic NP-hard task.

Despite its computational hardness, vertex coloring is not merely an abstract mathematical puzzle. Its relevance extends to numerous practical scenarios where conflicts must be resolved, resources must be allocated efficiently, or distinctions must be made between interacting entities. From scheduling examinations to avoid student conflicts, allocating registers in compilers to optimize code execution, assigning frequencies to wireless transmitters to prevent interference, to partitioning data in parallel computing, vertex coloring provides an elegant and effective modeling tool.

The dual nature of vertex coloring serves as the impetus for this thorough investigation: its theoretical depth and its practical utility. There is a continuous need to understand the various algorithmic approaches, from exact methods that guarantee optimality for smaller instances to heuristics that provide good solutions for larger, real-world problems in reasonable time. Furthermore, analytical tools like chromatic polynomials offer a deeper understanding of a graph's colorability properties beyond just its chromatic number. This dissertation aims to synthesize these different facets, providing a coherent and in-depth exploration of vertex coloring methods, their applications, and the powerful insights offered by chromatic polynomials. The continued advancements in computational power and the increasing complexity of modern systems necessitate a robust understanding of such fundamental graph algorithms and their potential to address contemporary challenges.

#### **1.2 Problem Statement**

The **vertex coloring problem** in graph theory is the main issue examined in this dissertation. The problem is to assign a color c(v) from a set of kavailable colors  $\{1, 2, ..., k\}$  to each vertex  $v \in V$  of an undirected graph G = (V, E), where V is the set of vertices and E is the set of edges, so that  $u, v) \in E$  (i.e., u and v are adjacent) such that  $c(u) \neq c(v)$ .

This study addresses several key questions related to this problem:

1. Which heuristics and main algorithms are used to solve the vertex coloring problem, and what are their respective strengths, weak-nesses, and computational complexities? This includes an examination of greedy approaches, backtracking, methods based on graph representations like the adjacency matrix, and established heuristics like DSATUR and RLF.

- 2. How can the chromatic polynomial of a graph be determined, and what information does it convey about the graph's colorability and structural properties beyond merely finding the chromatic number?
- 3. In what ways can vertex coloring and its associated concepts be effectively applied to model and solve real-world problems, particularly in areas like scheduling, resource allocation, and network design?
- 4. How do these different methods compare in terms of their efficacy and the quality of solutions they provide for various types of graphs and application scenarios?

The main objective is to present a thorough analysis that connects vertex coloring's theoretical underpinnings with its useful algorithmic solutions and applications.

### **1.3** Objectives of the Study

The following are the main goals of this dissertation:

- 1. To provide a detailed review of the fundamental concepts, definitions, and key theorems related to vertex coloring in graph theory.
- 2. To conduct an in-depth study and comparative analysis of various algorithms for vertex coloring, including:
  - Exact algorithms (e.g., backtracking).
  - Greedy algorithms and the impact of vertex ordering.
  - The adjacency matrix-based coloring heuristic.
  - Established heuristic algorithms such as DSATUR and RLF.
- 3. To fully examine chromatic polynomial theory and computation, including the deletion-contraction principle and how it is used to calculate a graph's number of valid colorings.
- 4. To explore and illustrate the diverse applications of vertex coloring in solving practical problems, with a particular emphasis on scheduling (e.g., exam timetabling) and resource allocation.

- 5. To synthesize the findings into a comprehensive resource that elucidates the methods, theoretical underpinnings, and practical significance of vertex coloring and chromatic polynomials.
- 6. To identify limitations in current approaches and suggest potential directions for future research in the field of graph coloring.

### **1.4** Scope and Limitations

This dissertation focuses primarily on **proper vertex coloring** of simple, undirected graphs. While other variants of graph coloring exist (e.g., edge coloring, total coloring, list coloring, equitable coloring), they are outside the primary scope of this study, though they may be briefly mentioned for context or future work.

The algorithmic exploration covers a range of well-established exact and heuristic methods. While advanced metaheuristics (e.g., genetic algorithms, simulated annealing, tabu search for graph coloring) are acknowledged as powerful techniques, a deep dive into their intricacies is beyond the scope of this work, which aims to provide a foundational yet comprehensive overview of more classical approaches.

The applications discussed are illustrative and aim to demonstrate the versatility of vertex coloring. A comprehensive, domain-specific analysis of every possible application is not feasible within the constraints of this study. The examples chosen, particularly exam scheduling, are explored in sufficient detail to demonstrate the modeling and solution process.

The computational experiments or comparisons presented are primarily for illustrative and comparative purposes using moderately sized examples. Large-scale empirical performance analysis of algorithms on extensive benchmark datasets, while valuable, is not a central objective of this particular dissertation.

The study of chromatic polynomials focuses on their definition, properties, and methods of computation (like deletion-contraction), and their relation to the chromatic number. Deeper algebraic properties or the study of chromatic roots (zeros of the polynomial) are touched upon but not explored exhaustively.

### 1.5 Organization of the Dissertation

Eight chapters make up this dissertation:

- **Chapter 1: Introduction** (Current Chapter) provides the background, motivation, problem statement, objectives, scope, limitations, and overall structure of the dissertation.
- Chapter 2: Literature Review presents a survey of existing literature, covering the historical development of graph coloring, fundamental theorems, various coloring algorithms, the significance of chromatic polynomials, and documented applications.
- Chapter 3: Preliminaries in Graph Theory and Vertex Coloring establishes the necessary theoretical foundation by defining basic graph theory concepts and formalizing the notions of vertex coloring, k-colorability, and the chromatic number.
- Chapter 4: Methods of Vertex Coloring delves into various algorithms for vertex coloring, including greedy algorithms, backtracking, an adjacency matrix-based method, DSATUR, and RLF, discussing their procedures, complexities, and providing illustrative examples.
- **Chapter 5: Chromatic Polynomials** focuses on the theory and computation of chromatic polynomials, explaining their properties, the deletion-contraction principle, and their utility in analyzing graph colorability.
- Chapter 6: Applications of Vertex Coloring explores comprehensive examples of the real-world uses of vertex coloring in a variety of domains, including frequency assignment, resource allocation, scheduling, and compiler design.
- Chapter 7: Further Analysis and Discussion provides a more indepth discussion on topics such as NP-hardness, approximation algorithms, coloring's computational complexity, and a comparative analysis of the approaches covered.
- Chapter 8: Conclusion and Future Work summarizes the key findings of the dissertation, reiterates its contributions, discusses limitations, and proposes potential avenues for future research in graph coloring.

The dissertation concludes with a list of references and any applicable appendices.

## Chapter 2

## **Literature Review**

### 2.1 Historical Overview of Graph Coloring

The issue with graph coloring, specifically with regard to vertex coloring, has a rich history dating back to the mid-19th century. This section will trace its origins and key milestones.

The earliest recorded instance of a graph coloring problem is often attributed to coloring a map of England's counties in 1852, Francis Guthrie made the hypothesis that four colors would be enough to color any map so that no two nearby places would have the same color. Appel and Haken, 1977; Wilson, 2002. This conjecture, famously known as the Four Color Problem (or Theorem after its proof), became a driving force in the development of graph theory. Arthur Cayley brought the issue to the attention of the London Mathematical Society in 1878 after Guthrie's professor, Augustus De Morgan, explained it to William Rowan Hamilton. Cayley, 1879.

Kempe's and other early attempts to demonstrate the Four Color ConjectureKempe, 1879 and Tait, contained flaws but introduced important concepts like Kempe chains, which are still relevant in coloring arguments. The problem remained unsolved for over a century, stimulating a vast amount of research in graph theory and related combinatorial areas.

Appel and Haken's 1976 final demonstration of the Four Color Theorem Appel and Haken, 1977; Appel et al., 1977, later simplified and re-verified by Robertson, Sanders, Seymour, and Thomas Robertson et al., 1997, was

a landmark achievement. It was notable for its extensive use of computer assistance to check a large number of configurations, which sparked debate about the nature of mathematical proof.

Beyond map coloring, the abstract formulation of graph coloring was developed by mathematicians such as George David Birkhoff, who attempted to solve the Four Color Problem by introducing the chromatic polynomial in 1912 as a tool to count the number of ways to color a graph with a given amount of colors. Birkhoff, 1912. Other significant early contributions include Brooks' Theorem Brooks, 1941, which gives the chromatic number an upper constraint, as well as Whitney's research on coloring-related graph invariantsWhitney, 1932.

The study of graph coloring evolved from a specific puzzle to a general theory with profound implications in combinatorics and computer science, particularly with the rise of computational complexity theory in the latter half of the 20th century.

## 2.2 Fundamental Concepts and Theorems in Graph Coloring

This section will review core definitions, concepts, and pivotal theorems that form the bedrock of graph coloring theory, building upon the preliminaries discussed in Chapter 3.

An assignment of k colors to the vertices of G such that no two adjacent vertices receive the same color is known as a *proper vertex k-coloring* of a graph G = (V, E). The *chromatic number* of G, represented as  $\chi(G)$ , is the smallest integer k for which G has a correct vertex k-coloring Diestel, 2017; West, 2001.

Several fundamental bounds exist for the chromatic number. Any graph G with n vertices can be called  $1 \le \chi(G) \le n$ . If and only if a graph has no edges, it is 1-colorable. If and only if a graph is bipartite—that is, devoid of odd cycles—it is 2-colorable Kőnig, 1936. This property is algorithmically checkable in polynomial time.

A significant upper bound is given by *Brooks' Theorem* (1941), which states

that for any connected graph *G* that is neither a complete graph nor an odd cycle,  $\chi(G) \leq \Delta(G)$ , where  $\Delta(G)$  is the maximum degree of any vertex in *G* Brooks, 1941. For complete graphs  $K_n$ ,  $\chi(K_n) = n$ , and for odd cycles  $C_{2k+1}$ ,  $\chi(C_{2k+1}) = 3$ .

Theorems pertaining to perfect graphs and Vizing's Theorem for edge coloring—which is related but different—are other significant theorems. A graph *G* is *perfect* if  $\chi(H) = \omega(H)$  for any induced subgraph *H* of *G*. The Strong Perfect Graph Theorem (Chudnovsky et al., 2006) Chudnovsky et al., 2006 defined perfect graphs as those without an odd antihole as an induced subgraph or an odd hole (induced odd cycle of length at least 5).

The concept of *critical graphs* is also important. If  $\chi(G) = k$  but  $\chi(G - v) < k$  for each vertex  $v \in V(G)$  (or  $\chi(G - e) < k$  for each edge  $e \in E(G)$  for edge-critical graphs), then a graph *G* is *k*-critical. Typical structural characteristics of critical graphs include being (k - 1)-edge-connected if  $k \ge 2$  Dirac, 1952.

These concepts and theorems provide the theoretical language and tools to analyze and understand the properties of graph colorings.

### 2.3 **Review of Vertex Coloring Algorithms**

It is NP-hard to determine a general graph's chromatic number, and the associated decision problem (k-COLORABILITY for  $k \ge 3$ ) is NP-complete Garey and Johnson, 1979; Karp, 1972. This has led to the development of various algorithmic approaches, broadly categorized into exact algorithms and heuristic (approximation) algorithms.

#### 2.3.1 Exact Algorithms

Finding the ideal chromatic number and matching coloring is the goal of exact algorithms. Their worst-case running time is usually exponential in the number of vertices because the task is NP-hard.

One of the most straightforward exact methods is *brute-force enumeration*, which involves trying all possible assignments of *k* colors to *n* vertices for

increasing values of *k*. This is computationally infeasible for all but very small graphs.

A more structured approach is *backtracking* (also known as depth-first search with pruning). This method attempts to color vertices one by one, back-tracking when a partial coloring cannot be extended to a valid complete coloring with the current number of colors. Lawler Lawler, 1973 and others developed algorithms based on maximal independent sets or clique finding, related to coloring. For example, Zykov's symmetrization Zykov, 1949 has exponential complexity but offers a recursive formula for calculating the chromatic polynomial and, consequently, the chromatic number. Christofides Christofides, 1971 proposed an algorithm based on finding maximal independent sets, which can be related to coloring.

Vertex coloring can also be precisely solved by algorithms based on *integer linear programming* (*ILP*) formulations. One common formulation involves binary variables  $x_{v,c}$  (1 if vertex v gets color c, 0 otherwise) and  $y_c$  (1 if color c is used, 0 otherwise), using restrictions that guarantee every vertex receives a single color, neighboring vertices receive distinct colors, and the quantity of colors utilized is kept to a minimum.  $\sum y_c$ . While ILP solvers can handle some moderate-sized instances, the problem remains hard in general.

More sophisticated exact algorithms often exploit specific graph structures or use techniques like branch-and-bound or dynamic programming on subsets of vertices. For instance, algorithms for graphs with bounded treewidth can solve coloring in polynomial time for a fixed treewidth Arnborg et al., 1987.

#### 2.3.2 Heuristic Algorithms

Given the difficulty of exact solutions, heuristic algorithms are widely used to find good, though not necessarily optimal, colorings in polynomial time.

The *Greedy algorithm* (also known as sequential coloring) is one of the simplest and most studied heuristics. It assigns each vertex the smallest color that isn't being used by its neighbors that are already colored, processing vertices in a certain order. The quality of the coloring heavily depends on the vertex ordering. Welsh and Powell Welsh and Powell, 1967 pro-

posed ordering vertices by decreasing degree, which often yields better results than arbitrary ordering.Incidence degree ordering (IDO), smallest last (SL), and largest first (LF) are additional ordering techniques. An ideal coloring can be found by the greedy algorithm with an optimal ordering, however determining such an optimal ordering is NP-hard in and of itself.

The *Degree of Saturation (DSATUR)* algorithm, introduced by Brélaz Brélaz, 1979, is a dynamic greedy approach. It iteratively selects an uncolored vertex that has the largest number of distinct colors in its neighborhood (its "saturation degree"). Ties are broken by choosing the vertex with the highest degree in the uncolored subgraph. DSATUR is known to perform well on many graph classes and optimally colors bipartite graphs, complete graphs, and cycles.

The *Recursive Largest First (RLF)* algorithm, proposed by Leighton Leighton, 1979, is another effective heuristic. It iteratively builds color classes. In each step, it selects an uncolored vertex of maximum degree, assigns it to the current color class, and then adds other uncolored vertices to this class that are not adjacent to any vertex already in the class, prioritizing those with many neighbors already colored. A new color class is created after this procedure is repeated until no more vertices can be added to the existing one.

Additional heuristic methods include genetic algorithms, ant colony optimization, tabu search, and simulated annealing Galinier and Hao, 1999; Hertz and de Werra, 1990. These metaheuristics can often find high-quality colorings for very large and difficult instances but may require significant parameter tuning and computational effort.

The *adjacency matrix method*, as described in the current work's abstract (and to be detailed in Chapter 4), can also be seen as a heuristic based on vertex degrees (row sums of the adjacency matrix). Its performance relative to established heuristics is a point of interest.

### 2.4 Chromatic Polynomials: Historical Context and Significance

A polynomial in  $\lambda$  that counts the number of different methods to appropriately color the vertices of *G* using at most  $\lambda$  colors is called the chromatic polynomial,  $P(G, \lambda)$ , of a graph *G*.

As previously stated, George David Birkhoff attempted to solve the Four Color Problem in 1912 by introducing the chromatic polynomial Birkhoff, 1912. He demonstrated that  $P(G, \lambda)$  is in fact a polynomial in  $\lambda$  for any graph G. Hassler Whitney, in 1932, independently discovered chromatic polynomials and established many of their fundamental properties Whitney, 1932.He gave formulas for the chromatic polynomial's coefficients in terms of how many subgraphs of G had particular characteristics. The leading coefficient is always 1, and  $P(G, \lambda)$  is a polynomial of degree n with integer coefficients that alternate in sign for a graph with n vertices. The constant term is 0. The smallest positive integer  $\lambda$  for which  $P(G, \lambda) > 0$  is the chromatic number  $\chi(G)$ .

A key tool for computing chromatic polynomials is the *deletion-contraction principle* (also known as the fundamental reduction theorem), often attributed to Tutte though with roots in earlier work Read, 1968; Tutte, 1954. It says that for any edge *e* in a graph G,  $P(G, \lambda) = P(G - e, \lambda) - P(G \cdot e, \lambda)$ , where G - e is the graph that is produced by deleting edge *e* and  $G \cdot e$  is the graph obtained by contracting edge *e* (finding its ends and eliminating *e*). By reducing *G* to simpler graphs, usually a sum/difference of chromatic polynomials of complete graphs or edgeless graphs, this recurrence relation makes it possible to compute  $P(G, \lambda)$ .

Chromatic polynomials have significance beyond just counting colorings. Their roots, known as *chromatic roots* or *chromatic zeros*, have been extensively studied. No chromatic root can be in the interval  $(-\infty, 0)$  or (0, 1). For planar graphs, the Four Color Theorem is equivalent to stating that P(G, 4) > 0 for any planar graph G. The Beraha numbers,  $B_n = 2 + 2\cos(2\pi/n)$ , appear as limiting points of chromatic roots for certain families of graphs, and have connections to statistical mechanics (e.g., the Potts model) Beraha et al., 1975.

The study of chromatic polynomials connects graph theory with algebra and combinatorics, offering deep insights into graph structures.

### 2.5 Applications of Vertex Coloring in Various Domains

Vertex coloring is not just a theoretical curiosity; it models a wide array of practical problems where conflicts or constraints need to be managed.

- Scheduling and Timetabling: This is perhaps the most classic application.
  - *Exam Timetabling:* Exams and courses are vertices, and if at least one student is enrolled in both, there is an edge connecting the two vertices. Time slots are represented by colors. The objective is to arrange tests in the fewest possible time periods such that no student faces a conflict Burke and Petrovic, 2002; Welsh and Powell, 1967.
  - *Task Scheduling:* Tasks are vertices, and if two tasks cannot be completed at the same time, an edge connects them (e.g., they require the same resource or one depends on the other in a nonpreemptive way). Colors represent time units or processors.
  - Aircraft/Train Scheduling: Flights/train routes are vertices; an edge exists if two routes conflict (e.g., use the same runway/track segment at overlapping times). Colors are time slots or resources.
- **Register Allocation in Compilers:** In compiler optimization, program variables (or their live ranges) are represented as vertices. If the relevant variables are "live" at the same time in the program and cannot be stored in the same CPU register, then an edge joins the two vertices. Colors represent the available physical registers. The goal is to assign variables to registers using the minimum number of registers, or to determine if an assignment is possible with a fixed number of registers Briggs et al., 1994; Chaitin, 1982.
- Frequency Assignment: In wireless communication (e.g., cellular networks, radio/TV broadcasting), transmitters are vertices. An edge exists between two transmitters if they are geographically close enough that assigning them the same or nearby frequencies would cause interference. Colors represent distinct frequencies or frequency channels. The problem is to assign frequencies to minimize interference or to use the minimum number of distinct frequencies Gamst, 1986; Hale, 1980.

- **Map Coloring:** This is the historical origin, as was mentioned. On a map, countries or regions are represented by vertices, and if two vertices share a border, an edge joins them. Colors are used to distinguish adjacent regions.
- VLSI Design: In circuit design, certain components or nets might be vertices, with edges representing constraints (e.g., cannot be placed too close, cannot share the same layer for routing). Coloring can help in partitioning or assignment problems.
- Data Storage and Retrieval: In some database systems, items of data could be vertices, with edges representing relationships or dependencies. Coloring could be used for clustering or partitioning data for efficient access.
- **Biological Networks:** In bioinformatics, proteins in a protein-protein interaction network can be vertices, with edges representing interactions. Coloring might be used to identify functional modules or to resolve conflicts in experimental design.
- Sudoku Puzzles: A graph coloring issue on a graph with 81 vertices (the cells) can be used to mimic a Sudoku puzzle. Each vertex has an initial color if a number is given, and the rules of Sudoku define the adjacencies (cells in the same row, column, or 3x3 block cannot have the same number/color). The goal is to complete the coloring using 9 colors.

These examples demonstrate the vertex coloring model's adaptability in abstracting and resolving challenging resource allocation and constraint satisfaction issues in a variety of domains.

# 2.6 Gaps in Existing Literature and Contribution of this Study

While graph coloring is a well-studied area, several avenues remain for exploration and synthesis. Existing literature extensively covers individual algorithms and specific applications. However, comprehensive studies that integrate a broad range of classical coloring methods, the theory of chromatic polynomials, and a diverse set of applications, particularly from a pedagogical or comparative standpoint, are less common at the dissertation level for an introductory yet thorough overview.

Specifically, this dissertation aims to:

- Provide a clear, comparative exposition of several fundamental vertex coloring algorithms, including a detailed look at an adjacency matrix-based heuristic, which, while intuitive, may not always be explicitly compared against standard heuristics like DSATUR or RLF in introductory texts.
- Offer a detailed walkthrough of chromatic polynomial computation using the deletion-contraction principle, connecting the theoretical aspects to practical calculation for non-trivial examples.
- Synthesize the application of these techniques across various domains, with a clear mapping from the real-world problem to the graph coloring model, highlighting the problem-solving power of graph theory.

While this study does not aim to introduce novel algorithms or break new theoretical ground (which would be typical of a Ph.D. dissertation in a specialized area of graph theory), its contribution lies in its comprehensive and integrated approach. It seeks to serve as a valuable educational resource that bridges theory, algorithmic practice, and real-world utility for students and researchers beginning their exploration of graph coloring. It also aims to provide a structured understanding of how different facets of graph coloring interrelate, fostering a deeper appreciation for this elegant and powerful combinatorial tool.

Further research could build upon this by conducting extensive empirical comparisons of the adjacency matrix method against a wider suite of modern heuristics on benchmark instances, or by exploring hybrid algorithms that combine the strengths of different approaches. Investigating the performance of these classical methods on emerging graph structures (e.g., from social networks or biological systems) also remains a fertile area.

## Chapter 3

## **Preliminaries in Graph Theory and Vertex Coloring**

This chapter lays the foundational groundwork necessary for understanding the concepts discussed throughout this dissertation. We begin by introducing basic definitions and terminology from graph theory, followed by a formal exposition of vertex coloring, its associated parameters, and common graph representations.

#### **3.1 Basic Graph Theory Definitions**

The study of graphs, which are mathematical structures used to represent pairwise relationships between objects, is known as graph theory. Throughout this dissertation, we will use G = (V, E) to represent a graph, where V is a set of vertices and E is a set of edges. \*(This sentence is from your page 1)\*.

#### 3.1.1 Graphs, Vertices, Edges

When V(G) is a non-empty finite set of elements called **vertices** (or nodes) and E(G) is a set of 2-element subsets of V(G) called **edges** (or links), then **graph** *G* is an ordered pair (V(G), E(G)). If  $e = \{u, v\} \in E(G)$ , then the

edge *e* is said to join vertices *u* and *v*, and *u* and *v* are called the **endpoints** of *e*. The number of vertices, |V(G)|, is called the **order** of the graph, and the number of edges, |E(G)|, is called the **size** of the graph.

Graphs examined in this dissertation are **simple graphs** unless otherwise noted, which means they don't feature loops (edges that connect a vertex to itself) or more than one edge between the same pair of vertices.

#### 3.1.2 Types of Graphs

Several specific types of graphs are frequently encountered:

- Undirected Graph: A graph without any orientation on its edges. The edges (*u*, *v*) and (*v*, *u*) are the same. Unless otherwise indicated, this is the default graph type taken into consideration.
- **Directed Graph (Digraph):** A graph with directionally directed edges. An ordered pair of vertices (*u*, *v*) that indicates a connection between *u* and *v* is called an edge.
- Weighted Graph: A graph where a numerical weight or cost is applied to each edge (and/or vertex).
- Complete Graph (K<sub>n</sub>): A straightforward graph where each pair of unique vertices is joined by a different edge. A complete graph with n vertices is denoted by K<sub>n</sub>. It has <sup>(n)</sup><sub>2</sub> edges.
- Null Graph (Edgeless Graph): A graph with vertices but no edges. An edgeless graph on n vertices is denoted  $N_n$ .
- Path Graph (P<sub>n</sub>): A graph whose vertices can be listed in order v<sub>1</sub>, v<sub>2</sub>, ..., v<sub>n</sub> such that its edges are {v<sub>i</sub>, v<sub>i+1</sub>} for i = 1, ..., n − 1.
- Cycle Graph ( $C_n$ ): A graph with n vertices  $v_1, v_2, ..., v_n$  and edges  $\{v_1, v_2\}, \{v_2, v_3\}, ..., \{v_{n-1}, v_n\}, \{v_n, v_1\}$ . A cycle must have  $n \ge 3$ .
- **Bipartite Graph:** Vertices in a graph can be separated into two independent and distinct sets, *U* and *W*, with each edge connecting a vertex in *U* to one in *W*. In other words, a graph is bipartite if and only if it doesn't have any cycles of odd length.

- **Tree:** A connected acyclic graph (a graph with no cycles).
- **Planar Graph:**a graph whose edges only meet at their endpoints when it is drawn in the plane.

#### 3.1.3 Degree of a Vertex, Adjacency, Incidence

In an undirected graph G, two vertices u and v are **adjacent** (or neighbors) if there is an edge  $\{u, v\} \in E(G)$ . N(v) represents the set of neighbors of a vertex v.

If *v* is an endpoint of *e*, then a vertex *v* and an edge *e* are **incident**. If two different edges have a shared incident vertex, they are **adjacent**.

The number of edges incident to a vertex v is its **degree**, which is represented by  $\deg(v)$  or d(v). In simple graphs, this is equal to the number of its neighbors, |N(v)|. The **minimum degree** of a graph G, denoted  $\delta(G)$ , is  $\min_{v \in V(G)} \deg(v)$ . The **maximum degree** of a graph G, denoted  $\Delta(G)$ , is  $\max_{v \in V(G)} \deg(v)$ .

According to the Handshaking Lemma, for any graph G = (V, E),  $\sum_{v \in V} \deg(v) = 2|E|$ .

#### 3.1.4 Paths, Cycles, Connectivity, Subgraphs, Induced Subgraphs

A walk in a graph is a sequence of vertices  $v_0, v_1, \ldots, v_k$  such that  $\{v_{i-1}, v_i\}$  is an edge for all  $i = 1, \ldots, k$ . The number of edges in a walk is its **length**. A walk with distinct boundaries is called a **trail**. With the possible exception of the beginning and end vertices, every vertex (and thus every edge) in a **path** is unique. The path is a **closed path** if  $v_0 = v_k$ .

A closed path of at least three lengths is called a **cycle**  $v_0, v_1, \ldots, v_{k-1}$  are all distinct.

If there is a path connecting each pair of unique vertices in *G*, then *G* is **connected**. A graph is made up of multiple **connected components** if it is not connected.

A **subgraph** *H* of a graph *G* is a graph such that  $V(H) \subseteq V(G)$  and  $E(H) \subseteq E(G)$ , and the adjacency relationships in *H* are the same as in *G*. A subgraph with a vertex set of *S* and an edge set made up of all edges in E(G) with both endpoints in *S* is called a **induced subgraph** G[S] on a vertex subset  $S \subseteq V(G)$ . A subgraph that contains every vertex in the original graph *G* is called a **spanning subgraph**.

### **3.2 Vertex Coloring: Formal Definitions**

This section formally defines the concepts central to this dissertation: vertex coloring and its associated parameters.

#### 3.2.1 **Proper Vertex Coloring**

\*(Definition 1.1 from your paper)\* When a graph G = (V, E) has a **proper vertex coloring**, it means that each vertex in G has a color allocated to it, usually in the form of a positive integer, so that no two neighboring vertices have the same color. Mathematically, it is a function  $c : V \rightarrow \{1, 2, ..., k\}$  for some integer k, such that if  $\{u, v\} \in E$ , then  $c(u) \neq c(v)$ . The set  $\{1, 2, ..., k\}$  is the set of available colors. A vertex v assigned color j is said to be *colored* j.

#### 3.2.2 k-Coloring and k-Colorable Graphs

\*(Definition 1.4 from your paper)\* If a graph G admits a suitable vertex coloring using at most k colors, it is said to be **k-colorable**. We refer to this type of coloring as a **k-coloring**. It is also (k + 1)-colorable if G is k-colorable.

#### **3.2.3** Chromatic Number ( $\chi(G)$ )

\*(Definition 1.3 from your paper)\* The **chromatic number** of a graph *G*, denoted by  $\chi(G)$ , is the minimum integer *k* such that *G* is *k*-colorable. If

 $\chi(G) = k$ , then *G* is said to be *k*-chromatic. Finding the chromatic number of an arbitrary graph is an NP-hard problem Karp, 1972.

#### 3.2.4 Cliques and Chromatic Number

A subset of vertices  $W \subseteq V(G)$  in a graph G is called a **clique** if all two different vertices in W are adjacent. (i.e., G[W] is a complete graph). The **clique number** of G, denoted  $\omega(G)$ , is the number of vertices in a maximum clique of G. Since all vertices in a clique must be assigned distinct colors in any proper coloring, it is a fundamental lower bound that for any graph G,  $\chi(G) \ge \omega(G)$ .

#### 3.2.5 Bounds on Chromatic Number

The chromatic number is known to have several bounds:

- For any graph *G* with *n* vertices:  $1 \le \chi(G) \le n$ .
- $\chi(G) \ge \omega(G)$  (as stated above).
- $\chi(G) \ge \frac{n}{\alpha(G)}$ , where  $\alpha(G)$  is the size of a maximum independent set, or *G*'s independence number.
- For any graph G, χ(G) ≤ Δ(G) + 1. This is a simple consequence of the greedy coloring algorithm.
- Brooks' Theorem (1941): For any connected graph *G* that is not a complete graph or an odd cycle, χ(*G*) ≤ Δ(*G*) Brooks, 1941.
- Welsh-Powell Bound (1967): If the vertices of *G* are ordered v<sub>1</sub>, v<sub>2</sub>,..., v<sub>n</sub> such that deg(v<sub>1</sub>) ≥ deg(v<sub>2</sub>) ≥ ··· ≥ deg(v<sub>n</sub>), then χ(G) ≤ max<sub>i</sub> min{deg(v<sub>i</sub>)+1, i} Welsh and Powell, 1967.

These bounds provide estimates or limits for the chromatic number and are often used in the analysis of coloring algorithms or in theoretical proofs.

#### 3.3 Adjacency Matrix Representation

\*(Definition 1.2 from your paper)\* The **adjacency matrix** A of a simple graph G with n vertices  $\{v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_n\}$  is an  $n \times n$  matrix where the entry  $A_{ij}$  is 1 if vertex  $v_i$  is adjacent to vertex  $v_j$ , and 0 otherwise.

$$A_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \{v_i, v_j\} \in E(G) \\ 0 & \text{if } \{v_i, v_j\} \notin E(G) \end{cases}$$

The adjacency matrix of an undirected simple graph has zeros along its main diagonal (i.e.,  $A_{ii} = 0$ ) and is symmetric (i.e.,  $A_{ij} = A_{ji}$ ). Your paper states: "The matrix is symmetric for simple graph (the graphs which do not have any loop) but not symmetric for directed graphs." \*(This is correct for the standard definition).\*

The sum of the entries in row *i* (or column *i*, due to symmetry for undirected graphs) of the adjacency matrix,  $\sum_{j=1}^{n} A_{ij}$ , gives the degree of vertex  $v_i$ , deg $(v_i)$ . This property is utilized in some degree-based coloring heuristics.

This chapter has provided the essential vocabulary and concepts from graph theory and vertex coloring that will be used in the subsequent chapters to discuss algorithms, chromatic polynomials, and applications.

## Chapter 4

## **Methods of Vertex Coloring**

This chapter explores various algorithmic approaches for solving the vertex coloring problem. Given the NP-hard nature of finding the optimal chromatic number for general graphs, a spectrum of methods exists, ranging from exact algorithms that guarantee optimality but may be slow, to heuristic algorithms that aim for good solutions in practical timeframes. We will discuss several prominent techniques, including greedy algorithms, backtracking, a method based on the adjacency matrix, and well-known heuristics like DSATUR and RLF.

### 4.1 Greedy Coloring Algorithm

One of the most basic and popular heuristic methods for vertex coloring is the greedy algorithm, sometimes referred to as sequential coloring. It is a widely used baseline due to its ease of use and generally acceptable performance.

#### 4.1.1 Algorithm Description and Vertex Ordering

The greedy algorithm processes the vertices of a graph G = (V, E) one by one according to a predefined order  $v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_n$ . For each vertex  $v_i$  in this sequence, it assigns the smallest available color (typically the smallest positive integer) that has not already been used by any of its neighbors  $v_j$  that appear before it in the ordering (i.e., j < i and  $\{v_i, v_j\} \in E$ ).

#### **Pseudocode for Greedy Coloring:**

```
Algorithm GreedyColoring(G, order):
  Input: Graph G=(V, E), vertex ordering order = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)
  Output: A coloring c of G
  For each vertex u in V:
    c(u) = uncolored
  For i = 1 to n:
    Let v = order[i]
    forbidden_colors = set()
    For each neighbor u of v:
      If c(u) is not uncolored:
        add c(u) to forbidden_colors
    color_v = 1
    While color_v is in forbidden_colors:
      color v = color v + 1
    c(v) = color_v
  Return c
```

The **vertex ordering** that is selected has a significant impact on the greedy algorithm's performance. Typical ordering techniques consist of:

- Arbitrary Order: No specific strategy.
- Largest First (LF) / Decreasing Degree Order: Order vertices by non-increasing degree. This was proposed by Welsh and Powell Welsh and Powell, 1967. The intuition is that higher-degree vertices are more constrained and should be colored early.
- **Smallest Last (SL) Order:**Locate a vertex with the lowest degree, eliminate it, and then repeat on the other graph. The removal order is the opposite of the SL ordering. This usually works fine.

• **Incidence Degree Order (IDO):** The next vertex to be colored is selected dynamically by adding the degrees of its neighbors that have already been colored.

Finding an optimal ordering that makes the greedy algorithm produce a  $\chi(G)$ -coloring is itself an NP-hard problem.

#### 4.1.2 Example and Analysis

For example, consider a path graph  $P_4$  with vertices  $v_1 - v_2 - v_3 - v_4$ . If the order is  $(v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4)$ :

- $c(v_1) = 1$
- $c(v_2) = 2$  (neighbor  $v_1$  is 1)
- $c(v_3) = 1$  (neighbor  $v_2$  is 2)
- $c(v_4) = 2$  (neighbor  $v_3$  is 1)

This uses 2 colors, which is optimal for  $P_4$ .

Consider the cycle graph  $C_5$  with vertices  $v_1 - v_2 - v_3 - v_4 - v_5 - v_1$ . All vertices have degree 2. If the order is  $(v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5)$ :

- $c(v_1) = 1$
- $c(v_2) = 2$  (neighbor  $v_1$  is 1)
- $c(v_3) = 1$  (neighbor  $v_2$  is 2)
- $c(v_4) = 2$  (neighbor  $v_3$  is 1)
- $c(v_5) = 3$  (neighbor  $v_1$  is 1, neighbor  $v_4$  is 2)

This uses 3 colors, which is optimal for  $C_5$ .

## 4.1.3 Complexity and Performance Bounds

The time complexity of the greedy algorithm is typically O(n+m) or  $O(n \cdot \Delta)$  if implemented efficiently, where *n* is the number of vertices, *m* is the number of edges, and  $\Delta$  is the maximum degree. Checking forbidden colors for each vertex can take up to  $O(\Delta)$  time. Sorting for degree-based orderings takes additional time (e.g.,  $O(n \log n)$  or O(n+m) with bucket sort for degrees).

At most  $\Delta(G) + 1$  colors are always used by the greedy method. Despite its simplicity, it may not function well. There exist graphs for which the greedy algorithm (with a specific ordering) uses  $\Omega(\frac{n}{\log n})$  colors while  $\chi(G)$  is small (e.g., 2 for some bipartite graphs). However, for some graph classes, like perfect graphs with a suitable ordering, it can find an optimal coloring.

## 4.2 Backtracking Algorithm for Vertex Coloring

Backtracking is an exact algorithm that systematically searches for a k-coloring. It is a form of depth-first search. While it guarantees finding the chromatic number (by trying k = 1, 2, ...), its worst-case time complexity is exponential.

## 4.2.1 Algorithm Description and Pseudocode

The backtracking algorithm attempts to color vertices one by one, usually in a fixed order. For each vertex, it tries to assign a color from 1 to k. If a color can be legally assigned (i.e., it doesn't conflict with already colored neighbors), the algorithm moves to the next vertex. If all colors from 1 to k have been tried for the current vertex and none are valid, or if it reaches a dead end where a subsequent vertex cannot be colored, it "backtracks": it undoes the coloring of the previous vertex and tries the next available color for that previous vertex. If all vertices are successfully colored, a k-coloring is found.

To find  $\chi(G)$ , one typically starts with a small k (e.g., k = 1 or an upper

bound from a heuristic) and increments *k* if no *k*-coloring is found. Or, it can be framed to find the smallest *k* directly.

#### Pseudocode for Recursive Backtracking k-Coloring Attempt:

```
Algorithm CanKColor(G, k, vertex_index, colors_assigned):
  Input: Graph G=(V,E), target number of colors k,
         current vertex_index to color, array colors_assigned
  Output: True if G[vertex_index...] can be k-colored, False otherwis
  If vertex_index == |V|: // All vertices colored
    Return True
  current_vertex = V[vertex_index]
  For color_try = 1 to k:
    is_safe = True
    For each neighbor u of current_vertex:
      If colors_assigned[u] == color_try:
        is_safe = False
        break
    If is safe:
      colors_assigned[current_vertex] = color_try
      If CanKColor(G, k, vertex_index + 1, colors_assigned):
        Return True
      colors_assigned[current_vertex] = UNCOLORED // Backtrack
  Return False // No color worked for this vertex
```

The main routine would call 'CanKColor' for increasing values of 'k' or use it within a search for the minimum 'k'.

## 4.2.2 Example Walkthrough

Consider  $K_3$  with vertices  $(v_1, v_2, v_3)$ . To find  $\chi(K_3)$ : Try k=1: 'CanK-Color(K3, 1, 0, )'

• Color  $v_1$ : Try color 1. 'colors<sub>a</sub>ssigned[v1] = 1'.Call'CanKColor(K3, 1, 1, v1 : 1)'.Colorv<sub>2</sub>:

Try color 1. Neighbor  $v_1$  has color 1. Conflict. 'is<sub>*s*</sub>afe = false'. Noother colorstotry for  $v_2$  with k = 1. Returns 'False'.

• Backtrack for  $v_1$ . No other colors for  $v_1$ . Returns 'False'.

So,  $K_3$  is not 1-colorable.

**Try k=2:** 'CanKColor(K3, 2, 0, )'

- Color  $v_1$ : Try color 1. 'colors<sub>a</sub>ssigned[v1] = 1'.Call'CanKColor(K3, 2, 1, v1 : 1)'.
  - Color v<sub>2</sub>: Try color 1. Neighbor v<sub>1</sub> has color 1. Conflict. Try color 2. 'colors<sub>a</sub>ssigned[v2] = 2'.Call'CanKColor(K3, 2, 2, v1 : 1, v2 : 2)'.
    - Color  $v_3$ : Try color 1. Neighbor  $v_1$  has color 1. Conflict. Try color 2. Neighbor  $v_2$  has color 2. Conflict. No other colors to try for  $v_3$  with k = 2. Returns 'False'.

Backtrack for  $v_2$ . Uncolor  $v_2$ . No other colors for  $v_2$ . Returns 'False'.

Backtrack for  $v_1$ . Uncolor  $v_1$ . Try color 2 for  $v_1$ . 'colors<sub>a</sub>ssigned[ $v_1$ ] = 2'.(Symmetriccase, willalsofail). So,  $K_3$  is not 2-colorable.

**Try k=3:** 'CanKColor(K3, 3, 0, )'

- Color  $v_1$ : Try color 1. 'colors<sub>a</sub>ssigned[v1] = 1'.Call'CanKColor(K3, 3, 1, v1 : 1)'.
  - Color  $v_2$ : Try color 1 (conflict with  $v_1$ ). Try color 2. 'colors<sub>a</sub>ssigned[ $v_2$ ] = 2'.Call'CanKColor(K3, 3, 2,  $v_1$ : 1,  $v_2$ : 2)'.
    - Color v<sub>3</sub>: Try color 1 (conflict with v<sub>1</sub>). Try color 2 (conflict with v<sub>2</sub>). Try color 3. 'colors<sub>a</sub>ssigned[v3] = 3'.Call'CanKColor(K3, 3, 3, v1 : 1,
- 'vertex<sub>i</sub>ndex == |V|'(3 == 3).Allverticescolored.Returns'True'. Returns 'True'.

Returns 'True'.

Returns 'True'.

A 3-coloring  $(v_1 : 1, v_2 : 2, v_3 : 3)$  is found. Thus,  $\chi(K_3) = 3$ .

## 4.2.3 Complexity and Performance

In the worst case, the backtracking algorithm may explore a significant portion of the  $k^n$  possible color assignments for a given k. Its time complexity is roughly  $O(k^n \cdot n \cdot \Delta)$  or  $O(k^n \cdot \text{poly}(n))$  if each step takes polynomial time, which is exponential. Despite its high worst-case complexity, backtracking can be effective for small graphs or graphs with particular structures where pruning occurs frequently. Various optimizations exist, such as choosing a "most constrained" vertex to color next or using symmetry-breaking techniques.

## 4.3 Adjacency Matrix-Based Coloring Method

This section details a heuristic coloring method based on the adjacency matrix of the graph, as outlined in the initial research work presented in Chapter 1 (referring to your 9-page PDF). This method uses row sums of the adjacency matrix (vertex degrees) as a primary guide for selecting vertices and assigning colors.

#### 4.3.1 Rationale and Heuristic Basis

The core idea behind this method is to prioritize coloring vertices with higher degrees first. The rationale is similar to some greedy ordering strategies: high-degree vertices are more constrained (have more neighbors that will restrict color choices), so addressing them early might lead to a more efficient overall coloring. Once a high-degree vertex is colored, the method attempts to assign the same color to as many of its non-neighbors as possible, effectively trying to create large independent sets for each color class.

## 4.3.2 Detailed Step-by-Step Procedure

\*(Procedure from page 1 of your PDF)\* The procedure to color the vertices of a graph using the adjacency matrix is as follows: Let C = 1 be the first

color. Let U = V be the set of uncolored vertices.

- 1. **Step 1:** Construct the adjacency matrix A for the given graph G = (V, E). Let  $V = \{v_1, v_2, \dots, v_n\}$ .
- 2. While *U* is not empty:
  - (a) Let  $S_C = \emptyset$  be the set of vertices to be colored with current color C.
  - (b) Step 2 (Degree Calculation): For each vertex  $v \in U$ , calculate its degree  $\deg_U(v)$  within the subgraph induced by U, or use original degrees  $\deg(v)$ . (The PDF example implies using original degrees of remaining uncolored vertices). Let's assume original degrees for selection from U.
  - (c) Step 3 (Select Vertex): Select a vertex  $v_s \in U$  which has the highest degree among vertices in U. If there's a tie, choose one (e.g., by lowest index). Add  $v_s$  to  $S_C$  and remove  $v_s$  from U.
  - (d) Step 4 (Assign Color): Assign color C to  $v_s$ .
  - (e) Step 5 (Color Non-Neighbors): For each vertex  $v_j \in U$  (remaining uncolored vertices): If  $v_j$  is not adjacent to  $v_s$  (i.e.,  $A_{sj} = 0$ ) AND  $v_j$  is not adjacent to any other vertex already in  $S_C$  (i.e., for all  $v_k \in S_C$ ,  $A_{jk} = 0$ ), then: Add  $v_j$  to  $S_C$ . Assign color C to  $v_j$ . (This forms an independent set). Remove all vertices now in  $S_C$  from U.
  - (f) Increment color: C = C + 1.

The interpretation of Step 5 in the original PDF seems simpler: "We give the same color to the vertex corresponding to that row of matrix which corresponds to the column of the selected row with value 0." This means coloring non-neighbors of  $v_s$ . For these non-neighbors to share color C, they must also be non-adjacent to each other. The example walkthrough implies this is checked. A robust way is to build an independent set greedily.

#### **4.3.3** Illustrative Example: Coloring a 6-Vertex Graph

\*(Example from pages 2-4 of your PDF)\* We consider a graph of 6 vertices.

**Graph Representation and Adjacency Matrix:** The adjacency matrix *A* and initial row sums (degrees) are:

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{Degrees:} \begin{cases} v_1 : 2 \\ v_2 : 3 \\ v_3 : 3 \\ v_4 : 2 \\ v_5 : 3 \\ v_6 : 1 \end{cases}$$

Initially,  $U = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6\}.$ 

Iteration 1 (Color 1 = 'a'):

- Degrees in  $U: v_2, v_3, v_5$  have max degree 3. Select  $v_2$ .
- Color  $v_2$  with 'a'.  $S_a = \{v_2\}$ .  $U = \{v_1, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6\}$ .
- Consider  $v_j \in U$ :
  - $v_1$ : Adjacent to  $v_2$ . Cannot color 'a'.
  - $v_3$ : Adjacent to  $v_2$ . Cannot color 'a'.
  - $v_4$ : Not adjacent to  $v_2$  ( $A_{24} = 0$ ). Color  $v_4$  with 'a'.  $S_a = \{v_2, v_4\}$ .  $U = \{v_1, v_3, v_5, v_6\}$ .
  - $v_5$ : Adjacent to  $v_2$ . Cannot color 'a'.
  - $v_6$ : Not adjacent to  $v_2$  ( $A_{26} = 0$ ). Is  $v_6$  adjacent to other members of  $S_a$  (i.e.,  $v_4$ )?  $A_{64} = 0$ . Yes, it can be colored 'a'. Color  $v_6$  with 'a'.  $S_a = \{v_2, v_4, v_6\}$ .  $U = \{v_1, v_3, v_5\}$ .

Vertices colored 'a':  $\{v_2, v_4, v_6\}$ . Uncolored:  $U = \{v_1, v_3, v_5\}$ .

#### **Iteration 2 (Color 2 = 'b'):**

- Degrees of vertices in U = {v<sub>1</sub>, v<sub>3</sub>, v<sub>5</sub>}: deg(v<sub>1</sub>) = 2, deg(v<sub>3</sub>) = 3, deg(v<sub>5</sub>) = 3. Max degree is 3. Select v<sub>3</sub>.
- Color  $v_3$  with 'b'.  $S_b = \{v_3\}$ .  $U = \{v_1, v_5\}$ .
- Consider  $v_j \in U$ :

- $v_1$ : Adjacent to  $v_3$ . Cannot color 'b'.
- $v_5$ : Not adjacent to  $v_3$  ( $A_{35} = 0$ ). Color  $v_5$  with 'b'.  $S_b = \{v_3, v_5\}$ .  $U = \{v_1\}$ .

Vertices colored 'b':  $\{v_3, v_5\}$ . Uncolored:  $U = \{v_1\}$ .

#### **Iteration 3 (Color 3 = 'c'):**

- Degrees of vertices in  $U = \{v_1\}$ : deg $(v_1) = 2$ . Select  $v_1$ .
- Color  $v_1$  with 'c'.  $S_c = \{v_1\}$ .  $U = \emptyset$ .

Vertices colored 'c':  $\{v_1\}$ . Uncolored:  $U = \emptyset$ .

All vertices are colored. The coloring is:  $v_1(c)$ ,  $v_2(a)$ ,  $v_3(b)$ ,  $v_4(a)$ ,  $v_5(b)$ ,  $v_6(a)$ . Number of colors used = 3. This matches the example in your PDF.

## 4.3.4 Advantages and Disadvantages

#### Advantages:

- Relatively simple to understand and implement if the graph representation is an adjacency matrix.
- Utilizes degree information, which is a common and often effective heuristic in graph coloring.
- Can be effective for certain types of graphs where prioritizing highdegree vertices is beneficial.

#### **Disadvantages:**

• The step of selecting other vertices to share the same color (Step 5) needs careful formulation (as done in the refined procedure above) to ensure a valid independent set is formed for each color class. The naive interpretation (only non-adjacent to the \*first\* selected vertex of that color) might lead to conflicts.

- Like other greedy heuristics, it is not guaranteed to find the optimal coloring. Its performance can vary significantly depending on the graph structure and tie-breaking rules.
- Using static original degrees for selection throughout might be less adaptive than dynamic degree calculations (like in DSATUR or recalculating degrees in the remaining uncolored subgraph).
- For dense graphs, manipulating the adjacency matrix directly for finding non-neighbors might be less efficient than adjacency list representations for sparse graphs if not carefully implemented.

## 4.4 Heuristic Algorithms

Beyond simple greedy approaches, several more sophisticated heuristic algorithms have been developed to provide better quality colorings. We discuss two prominent ones: DSATUR and RLF.

## 4.4.1 Degree of Saturation Algorithm (DSATUR)

Proposed by Brélaz Brélaz, 1979, The next vertex to be colored is dynamically selected via the sequential coloring algorithm DSATUR.

## **Algorithm Description:**

- 1. Order vertices by decreasing degree. Color the first vertex (max degree) with color 1.
- 2. Iteration:
  - (a) From the set of uncolored vertices, choose vertex v that has the highest *saturation degree*. The saturation degree of a vertex is the number of distinct colors assigned to its already colored neighbors.
  - (b) If there is a tie in saturation degree, choose the tied vertex with the highest degree in the subgraph induced by the uncolored vertices. Further ties may be broken arbitrarily (e.g., by lowest index).

- (c) Color the selected vertex *v* with the smallest available color (the smallest positive integer not used by its colored neighbors).
- 3. Repeat Step 2 until all vertices are colored.

DSATUR is known to optimally color bipartite graphs, complete graphs, cycles, and wheel graphs. It often performs better than simple greedy algorithms.

**Example:** Consider  $C_5$  ( $v_1 - v_2 - v_3 - v_4 - v_5 - v_1$ ). All degrees are 2. 1. Order by degree (all same): e.g.,  $(v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5)$ . Color  $v_1$  with 1. Colors:  $\{v_1 : v_2 : v_3, v_4, v_5\}$ . 1}. Uncolored:  $\{v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}$ . Saturation degrees (SatDeg) of uncolored vertices: -  $v_2$ : (neighbor  $v_1 = 1$ )  $\Rightarrow$  SatDeg=1. Degree in uncolored graph (DU)=1 (adj to  $v_3$ ). -  $v_3$ : (no colored neighbors)  $\Rightarrow$  SatDeg=0. DU=2 (adj to  $v_2, v_4$ ). -  $v_4$ : (no colored neighbors)  $\Rightarrow$  SatDeg=0. DU=2 (adj to  $v_3, v_5$ ). -  $v_5$ : (neighbor  $v_1 = 1$ )  $\Rightarrow$  SatDeg=1. DU=1 (adj to  $v_4$ ). 2. Max SatDeg is 1 (for  $v_2, v_5$ ). Tie-break by DU:  $v_2$  (DU=1),  $v_5$  (DU=1). Arbitrary tie-break, pick  $v_2$ . Smallest available color for  $v_2$  (neighbor  $v_1 = 1$ ) is 2. Color  $v_2$  with 2. Colors:  $\{v_1 : 1, v_2 : 2\}$ . Uncolored:  $\{v_3, v_4, v_5\}$ . SatDeg: -  $v_3$ : (neighbor  $v_2 = 2$   $\Rightarrow$  SatDeg=1. DU=1 (adj to  $v_4$ ). -  $v_4$ : (no colored neighbors)  $\Rightarrow$ SatDeg=0. DU=2 (adj to  $v_3, v_5$ ). -  $v_5$ : (neighbor  $v_1 = 1$ )  $\Rightarrow$  SatDeg=1. DU=1 (adj to  $v_4$ ). 3. Max SatDeg is 1 (for  $v_3, v_5$ ). Tie-break by DU:  $v_3$  (DU=1),  $v_5$  (DU=1). Arbitrary, pick  $v_3$ . Smallest available color for  $v_3$  (neighbor  $v_2 = 2$ ) is 1. Color  $v_3$  with 1. Colors:  $\{v_1 : 1, v_2 : 2, v_3 : 1\}$ . Uncolored:  $\{v_4, v_5\}$ . SatDeg: -  $v_4$ : (neighbor  $v_3 = 1$ )  $\Rightarrow$  SatDeg=1. DU=1 (adj to  $v_5$ ). -  $v_5$ : (neighbor  $v_1 = 1$ )  $\Rightarrow$  SatDeg=1. DU=1 (adj to  $v_4$ ). 4. Max SatDeg is 1 (for  $v_4, v_5$ ). Tie-break by DU: both DU=1. Arbitrary, pick  $v_4$ . Smallest available color for  $v_4$  (neighbor  $v_3 = 1$ ) is 2. Color  $v_4$  with 2. Colors:  $\{v_1 : 1, v_2 : 2, v_3 : 1, v_4 : 2\}$ . Uncolored:  $\{v_5\}$ . SatDeg: -  $v_5$ : (neighbors)  $v_1 = 1, v_4 = 2$   $\Rightarrow$  SatDeg=2. DU=0. 5. Only  $v_5$  uncolored. SatDeg=2. Smallest available color for  $v_5$  (neighbors  $v_1 = 1, v_4 = 2$ ) is 3. Color  $v_5$  with 3. Colors:  $\{v_1 : 1, v_2 : 2, v_3 : 1, v_4 : 2, v_5 : 3\}$ . All colored. Used 3 colors.

**Performance Characteristics:** The time complexity is typically  $O(n^2)$  in a straightforward implementation, as updating saturation degrees can be costly. More efficient implementations using appropriate data structures can achieve better average-case performance. DSATUR is generally considered a strong heuristic.

## 4.4.2 Recursive Largest First Algorithm (RLF)

Proposed by Leighton Leighton, 1979, RLF is a heuristic that constructs color classes one by one.

#### **Algorithm Description:**

- 1. Initialize: Set current color index k = 1. Let U be the set of all uncolored vertices.
- 2. While *U* is not empty:
  - (a) Start a new color class  $C_k = \emptyset$ .
  - (b) Let  $U_{cand} = U$ . (Candidate vertices for this color class)
  - (c) Select a vertex  $v \in U_{cand}$  that has the maximum degree in the subgraph induced by U. Add v to  $C_k$  and remove it from U and  $U_{cand}$ .
  - (d) While  $U_{cand}$  is not empty:
    - i. From  $U_{cand}$ , select a vertex  $u^*$  that is not adjacent to any vertex currently in  $C_k$ . If multiple such vertices exist, prioritize one that has the maximum number of neighbors that are adjacent to vertices in  $C_k$  (these neighbors must be in  $U \setminus U_{cand}$ ). Simpler variants just pick any non-adjacent vertex from  $U_{cand}$  or one with max degree in  $U_{cand}$  among those not adjacent to  $C_k$ . (A common RLF variant: select  $u \in U_{cand}$ not adjacent to any vertex in  $C_k$ . Add u to  $C_k$ . Remove u and all its neighbors from  $U_{cand}$ .) For this example, let's use a simpler approach: greedily add vertices from  $U_{cand}$  to  $C_k$  if they are not adjacent to anything already in  $C_k$ , processing  $U_{cand}$  in some order (e.g., by decreasing degree in U). More formally for this step (Leighton's approach is more complex): Let  $W = \{w \in U \mid w \text{ is not adjacent to any } x \in U \}$  $C_k$ . If *W* is empty, break from this inner loop. Select  $w^* \in$ W (e.g., one with max degree in U, or max neighbors in  $U \setminus W$ ). Add  $w^*$  to  $C_k$ . Remove  $w^*$  from U. (Update  $U_{cand}$  or re-evaluate W).
- 3. Assign color k to all vertices in  $C_k$ . Increment k.

RLF attempts to make each color class a large independent set.

**Example:** Consider the 6-vertex graph from section 4.3.3. Initial  $U = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6\}$ . Degrees:  $v_1(2), v_2(3), v_3(3), v_4(2), v_5(3), v_6(1)$ .

#### Color 1 (k=1):

- Max degree in U is 3  $(v_2, v_3, v_5)$ . Pick  $v_2$ .  $C_1 = \{v_2\}$ .  $U = \{v_1, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6\}$ .
- Iteratively add to  $C_1$ :  $v_1$ : adj to  $v_2$ . Skip.  $v_3$ : adj to  $v_2$ . Skip.  $v_4$ : not adj to  $v_2$ . Add  $v_4$  to  $C_1$ .  $C_1 = \{v_2, v_4\}$ .  $U = \{v_1, v_3, v_5, v_6\}$ .  $v_5$ : adj to  $v_2$ . Skip.  $v_6$ : not adj to  $v_2$ . Not adj to  $v_4$ . Add  $v_6$  to  $C_1$ .  $C_1 = \{v_2, v_4, v_6\}$ .  $U = \{v_1, v_3, v_5\}$ .
- No more vertices can be added to  $C_1$ . Assign color 1 to  $\{v_2, v_4, v_6\}$ .

Remaining  $U = \{v_1, v_3, v_5\}$ . Degrees in original graph:  $v_1(2), v_3(3), v_5(3)$ .

#### Color 2 (k=2):

- Max degree in U is 3 ( $v_3, v_5$ ). Pick  $v_3$ .  $C_2 = \{v_3\}$ .  $U = \{v_1, v_5\}$ .
- Iteratively add to C<sub>2</sub>: v<sub>1</sub>: adj to v<sub>3</sub>. Skip. v<sub>5</sub>: not adj to v<sub>3</sub>. Add v<sub>5</sub> to C<sub>2</sub>. C<sub>2</sub> = {v<sub>3</sub>, v<sub>5</sub>}. U = {v<sub>1</sub>}.
- No more vertices can be added to  $C_2$ . Assign color 2 to  $\{v_3, v_5\}$ .

Remaining  $U = \{v_1\}$ . Degree:  $v_1(2)$ .

#### Color 3 (k=3):

- Max degree in U is 2 ( $v_1$ ). Pick  $v_1$ .  $C_3 = \{v_1\}$ .  $U = \emptyset$ .
- No more vertices can be added to  $C_3$ . Assign color 3 to  $\{v_1\}$ .

All vertices colored. Colors used: 3.  $\{v_2, v_4, v_6\}$  :  $C1, \{v_3, v_5\}$  :  $C2, \{v_1\}$  : C3. This is the same coloring as the adjacency matrix method.

**Performance Characteristics:** RLF is generally a more computationally intensive heuristic than simple greedy or DSATUR, often with complexity around  $O(n^3)$  or O(nm) depending on implementation details for selecting vertices to add to the current color class. However, it often produces high-quality colorings, sometimes outperforming DSATUR.

## 4.5 **Comparison of Vertex Coloring Methods**

This section provides a qualitative comparison of the methods discussed.

Table 4.1: Comparison of Vertex Coloring Algorithms								
Algorithm	Туре	Complexity (Typical)	Optimality					
Greedy (Sequential)	1 1	$O(n+m)$ to $O(n\Delta)$	Not guaranteed;					
Backtracking	Exact	Exponential (e.g., $O(k^n \cdot poly(n)))$	Guaranteed					
Adjacency Matrix Method	Heuristic	$O(n^2 \cdot \chi')$ or $O(n\Delta \cdot \chi')$	Not guaranteed					
DSATUR	Heuristic	$O(n^2)$	Not guaranteed					
RLF	Heuristic	$O(n^3)$ or $O(nm)$	Not guaranteed					

Table 4.1: Comparison of Vertex Coloring Algorithms

Table 4.2: \*

 $\chi'$  denotes the number of colors found by the heuristic.

#### **Discussion:**

- **Exact vs. Heuristic:** Backtracking guarantees optimality but is feasible only for small graphs. Heuristics are used for larger graphs where exact solutions are intractable.
- Simple Heuristics (Greedy, Adjacency Matrix): These are generally faster to implement and run but may produce solutions further from optimal compared to more sophisticated heuristics. The choice of vertex ordering (for greedy) or selection criteria (for adjacency matrix method) is crucial. The Adjacency Matrix method, as implemented in the example, behaves similarly to RLF by constructing maximal independent sets for each color.
- Advanced Heuristics (DSATUR, RLF): These employ more intelligent strategies for selecting vertices or building color classes. DSATUR uses dynamic information (saturation degree), while RLF focuses on constructing large independent sets for each color. They typically yield better colorings than simple greedy methods but at a higher computational cost.
- **Problem-Specific Performance:** The best heuristic can vary depending on the specific structure of the graph being colored. No single heuristic dominates all others on all graph classes.

The size of the graph, the level of quality that must be achieved in the solution, and the processing resources at hand all influence the algorithm selection. For critical applications where optimality is paramount and graphs are small, exact methods are preferred. For larger instances, a trade-off between solution quality and computation time leads to the selection of appropriate heuristics.

# Chapter 5

# **Chromatic Polynomials**

Determining the number of different ways a graph G can be appropriately colored with a given number of  $\lambda$  available colors is frequently more informative than merely figuring out the chromatic number, which is the minimal number of colors required for a correct vertex coloring. Remarkably, this counting function is really a polynomial in  $\lambda$ , which is referred to as the chromatic polynomial of G. This chapter delves into the theory, computation, and significance of these polynomials.

## **5.1** Introduction to Chromatic Polynomials $P(G, \lambda)$

The **chromatic polynomial** of a graph *G*, denoted  $P(G, \lambda)$  or sometimes  $\chi_G(\lambda)$ , is a function that uses a collection of at most  $\lambda$  available colors to count the number of different appropriate vertex colorings of *G*. The variable  $\lambda$  represents the number of available colors and is typically treated as a positive integer, though the function itself is a polynomial and can be evaluated for any complex number  $\lambda$ .

The concept was independently introduced by George David Birkhoff in 1912 Birkhoff, 1912 in his attempts to prove the Four Color Conjecture, and later by Hassler Whitney in 1932 Whitney, 1932, who established many of its fundamental properties. The existence of such a polynomial function for any graph is a non-trivial result. If  $P(G, \lambda) > 0$  for some positive integer  $\lambda$ , it means that *G* is  $\lambda$ -colorable. The smallest positive integer  $\lambda_0$  for

which  $P(G, \lambda_0) > 0$  is precisely the chromatic number  $\chi(G)$ .

## 5.2 Definition and Basic Properties

Formally,  $P(G, \lambda)$  is the number of functions  $c : V(G) \to \{1, 2, ..., \lambda\}$  such that if  $\{u, v\} \in E(G)$ , then  $c(u) \neq c(v)$ .

The chromatic polynomial  $P(G, \lambda)$  for a graph *G* with *n* vertices and *m* edges has several important properties:

- 1.  $P(G, \lambda)$  is a polynomial in  $\lambda$  of degree n = |V(G)|.
- 2. The coefficient of  $\lambda^n$  in  $P(G, \lambda)$  is always 1.
- 3. The coefficient of  $\lambda^{n-1}$  in  $P(G, \lambda)$  is -m = -|E(G)|.
- 4. The coefficients of  $P(G, \lambda)$  alternate in sign, starting with positive for  $\lambda^n$ . That is,  $P(G, \lambda) = \lambda^n m\lambda^{n-1} + a_{n-2}\lambda^{n-2} \cdots + (-1)^{n-c_0}a_{c_0}\lambda^{c_0}$ , where  $c_0$  is the number of connected components of G. The term  $a_k$  is non-negative.
- 5. The constant term of  $P(G, \lambda)$  (the coefficient of  $\lambda^0$ ) is 0, unless *G* has no vertices (in which case  $P(G, \lambda) = 1$ ). This means P(G, 0) = 0 for any graph with at least one vertex.
- 6. If G has  $c_0$  connected components  $G_1, G_2, \ldots, G_{c_0}$ , then  $P(G, \lambda) = \prod_{i=1}^{c_0} P(G_i, \lambda)$ .
- 7. A graph *G* is *k*-colorable if and only if P(G, k) > 0. The chromatic number  $\chi(G)$  is the smallest positive integer *k* such that P(G, k) > 0.

These properties were largely established by Whitney Whitney, 1932.

## 5.3 Deletion-Contraction Principle (Fundamental Reduction Theorem)

The deletion-contraction principle, sometimes referred to as the fundamental reduction theorem for chromatic polynomials, is the foundation of a potent recursive technique for computing chromatic polynomials. The chromatic polynomial of a graph *G* is related to the chromatic polynomials of two simpler graphs that are generated from *G* according to this theorem.

Let  $e = \{u, v\}$  be an edge in graph G.

- *G* − *e* (or *G* \ *e*) denotes the graph obtained by **deleting** the edge *e* from *G*. The vertex set remains the same.
- *G* · *e* (or *G*/*e*) denotes the graph obtained by **contracting** the edge *e*. This involves identifying the vertices *u* and *v* into a single new vertex, removing the edge *e*, and retaining all other adjacencies. Any multiple edges created by the contraction are usually simplified to single edges in the context of simple graphs for chromatic polynomials.

**Theorem (Deletion-Contraction):** For any graph G and any edge  $e \in E(G)$ ,

$$P(G,\lambda) = P(G-e,\lambda) - P(G \cdot e,\lambda)$$

Alternatively, if G is not a complete graph, one can pick two non-adjacent vertices u and v, and use:

$$P(G,\lambda) = P(G+e,\lambda) + P(G \cdot \{u,v\},\lambda)$$

where G + e is G with edge  $e = \{u, v\}$  added, and  $G \cdot \{u, v\}$  is G with u and v identified (merged). This latter form is mentioned in your PDF (page 6) for decomposing the pentagon based on non-adjacent vertices.

**Proof Outline (for**  $P(G, \lambda) = P(G-e, \lambda) - P(G \cdot e, \lambda)$ ): Consider any proper  $\lambda$ -coloring of G - e.

- If this coloring assigns different colors to *u* and *v* (the endpoints of the original edge *e*), then it is also a proper λ-coloring of *G*.
- If this coloring assigns the same color to *u* and *v*, then it is not a proper λ-coloring of *G*. However, such a coloring corresponds directly to a proper λ-coloring of *G* · *e*, where *u* and *v* are merged into a single vertex.

Thus,  $P(G - e, \lambda)$  (number of ways to color G - e) = (number of ways to color G - e where  $c(u) \neq c(v)$ ) + (number of ways to color G - e where

c(u) = c(v)). The first term is  $P(G, \lambda)$ , and the second term is  $P(G \cdot e, \lambda)$ . Rearranging gives the theorem.

This recurrence allows us to compute  $P(G, \lambda)$  by repeatedly applying the rule, typically until we reach graphs whose chromatic polynomials are known (e.g., edgeless graphs or complete graphs). The base cases are usually  $P(N_n, \lambda) = \lambda^n$  for an edgeless graph with *n* vertices, and  $P(K_n, \lambda) = \lambda(\lambda - 1) \dots (\lambda - n + 1)$ .

## 5.4 Calculating Chromatic Polynomials for Standard Graphs

We may determine the chromatic polynomials for a few common graph families by applying the deletion-contraction principle or its definition:

 Null Graph (N<sub>n</sub>): An edgeless graph with n vertices. It is possible to separately color each vertex in λ ways.

$$P(N_n,\lambda) = \lambda^n$$

Complete Graph (K<sub>n</sub>): Every pair in a graph with n vertices is neighboring. The λ can be used to color the first vertex, the λ − 1 for the second, and so on, and the n-th for the λ − n + 1.

$$P(K_n, \lambda) = \lambda(\lambda - 1)(\lambda - 2) \dots (\lambda - n + 1) = \lambda^{(n)}$$
 (falling factorial)

If  $\lambda < n$ , then  $P(K_n, \lambda) = 0$ .

Path Graph (P<sub>n</sub>): An n path having v<sub>1</sub>, v<sub>2</sub>,..., v<sub>n</sub> vertices. It is possible to color v<sub>1</sub> in λ ways. It is possible to color v<sub>2</sub> in λ − 1 ways. For each subsequent vertex v<sub>i</sub> (i > 1), it must be different from v<sub>i−1</sub>, so it has λ − 1 choices.

$$P(P_n,\lambda) = \lambda(\lambda-1)^{n-1}$$

• Tree ( $T_n$ ): There are n vertices in this tree. It is possible to demonstrate that every tree with n vertices has the same chromatic polynomial as a path of length n (for example, via induction or by selecting a leaf and employing deletion-contraction).

$$P(T_n, \lambda) = \lambda(\lambda - 1)^{n-1}$$

• Cycle Graph ( $C_n$ ): For a cycle  $C_n$  with  $n \ge 3$  vertices, the chromatic polynomial is:

$$P(C_n, \lambda) = (\lambda - 1)^n + (-1)^n (\lambda - 1)$$

This can be derived using deletion-contraction: Pick an edge e in  $C_n$ . G - e is  $P_n$ .  $G \cdot e$  is  $C_{n-1}$ . So,  $P(C_n, \lambda) = P(P_n, \lambda) - P(C_{n-1}, \lambda)$ . This recursive formula, with base case  $P(C_3, \lambda) = P(K_3, \lambda) = \lambda(\lambda - 1)(\lambda - 2)$ , yields the formula.

# 5.5 Example: Chromatic Polynomial of a Pentagon (C<sub>5</sub>)

Let us try to understand the topic of a chromatic polynomial with the help of an example, i.e., a pentagon ( $C_5$ ). Let the graph be denoted by  $G = C_5$ . \*(From your PDF, page 6)\*

We will use the alternative form of the deletion-contraction principle mentioned in your PDF:  $P(G, \lambda) = P(G + e, \lambda) + P(G \cdot \{u, v\}, \lambda)$  where u, v are non-adjacent. Your PDF (page 6) states: "Here, 1 and 3 are non-adjacent vertices in G. The number of  $\lambda$ -coloring of G equals the  $\lambda$ -coloring of G in which 1 and 3 are colored differently plus the number of  $\lambda$ -coloring of G in which 1 and 3 are colored the same. Since the number of  $\lambda$ colorings in which 1 and 3 are colored differently is the number of  $\lambda$ colorings of G+13 (graph G with edge (1,3) added) while the number of  $\lambda$ -colorings of G in which 1 and 3 are colored the same is the number of  $\lambda$ -colorings of the graph H obtained by merging 1 and 3, it follows that  $P(G, \lambda) = P(G + \{1, 3\}, \lambda) + P(H, \lambda)$ ."

Let  $v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5$  be the vertices of  $C_5$  in cyclic order.

#### 5.5.1 Decomposition Steps

\*(This section refers to the diagrams from pages 7, 8, and 9 of your PDF. For a complete reproduction, these images would be inserted here. The textual explanation outlines the decomposition based on these assumed figures.)\*

**Initial Graph G** ( $C_5$ ): Represented as a pentagon. (Similar to Figure on page 6 of PDF).

**Step 1: Decompose based on non-adjacent vertices**  $v_1$  **and**  $v_3$ **.**  $P(C_5, \lambda) = P(G_1, \lambda) + P(G_2, \lambda)$  Where:

- $G_1 = C_5 + \{v_1, v_3\}$  (edge  $(v_1, v_3)$  added). This graph consists of a  $C_3$   $(v_1, v_2, v_3)$  and a  $C_4$   $(v_1, v_3, v_4, v_5)$  sharing edge  $(v_1, v_3)$ . (Similar to first graph in decomposition on PDF page 7).
- G<sub>2</sub> = C<sub>5</sub>/{v<sub>1</sub> ≡ v<sub>3</sub>} (vertices v<sub>1</sub>, v<sub>3</sub> merged into a new vertex, say x). This results in graph C<sub>4</sub> with vertices x, v<sub>2</sub>, v<sub>4</sub>, v<sub>5</sub>, where x is adjacent to v<sub>2</sub>, v<sub>5</sub>, v<sub>4</sub>, and v<sub>2</sub> is adj to x, v<sub>4</sub> to x, v<sub>5</sub>, v<sub>5</sub> to x, v<sub>4</sub>. This forms K<sub>1</sub>+C<sub>3</sub> (a wheel graph W<sub>4</sub>, which is K<sub>4</sub>). No, merging v<sub>1</sub>, v<sub>3</sub> in C<sub>5</sub> (v<sub>1</sub> v<sub>2</sub> v<sub>3</sub> v<sub>4</sub> v<sub>5</sub> v<sub>1</sub>) means the new vertex v<sub>13</sub> is adjacent to v<sub>2</sub> (from v<sub>1</sub>v<sub>2</sub> and v<sub>3</sub>v<sub>2</sub>), v<sub>4</sub> (from v<sub>3</sub>v<sub>4</sub>), and v<sub>5</sub> (from v<sub>1</sub>v<sub>5</sub>). The remaining edges are v<sub>4</sub>v<sub>5</sub>. This creates a graph with 4 vertices: v<sub>13</sub>, v<sub>2</sub>, v<sub>4</sub>, v<sub>5</sub>. Edges: (v<sub>13</sub>, v<sub>2</sub>), (v<sub>13</sub>, v<sub>4</sub>), (v<sub>13</sub>, v<sub>5</sub>), (v<sub>4</sub>, v<sub>5</sub>). This is a C<sub>4</sub> (cycle v<sub>13</sub> v<sub>4</sub> v<sub>5</sub> v<sub>13</sub> with an additional edge (v<sub>13</sub>, v<sub>2</sub>) which is incorrect if v<sub>2</sub> is distinct). Ah, the PDF means v<sub>1</sub>, v<sub>3</sub> are merged. v<sub>2</sub> is adjacent to both v<sub>1</sub>, v<sub>3</sub>. v<sub>4</sub> is adj to v<sub>3</sub>. v<sub>5</sub> is adj to v<sub>1</sub>. New vertex v<sub>13</sub> is adj to v<sub>2</sub>, v<sub>4</sub>, v<sub>5</sub>. The edge v<sub>4</sub> v<sub>5</sub> remains. This graph is a C<sub>4</sub>. (Similar to second graph in decomposition on PDF page 7).

The decomposition continues as shown in the PDF figures on pages 7-9, applying the same rule  $P(G, \lambda) = P(G + e, \lambda) + P(G \cdot \{u, v\}, \lambda)$  to the resulting graphs until they are broken down into complete graphs. The PDF's visual decomposition seems to track graphs that eventually sum up to the known coefficients of  $P(K_n, \lambda)$  forms.

#### 5.5.2 Derivation of the Final Polynomial

The chromatic polynomial of  $C_5$  can be translated into a sum of chromatic polynomials of simpler graphs by repeatedly using the decomposition. Your PDF (page 9) states the final result of this decomposition implies:  $P(C_5, \lambda) = P(K_5, \lambda) + 5 \cdot P(K_4, \lambda) + 5 \cdot P(K_3, \lambda)$ 

Let's verify this sum:

- $P(K_5,\lambda) = \lambda(\lambda-1)(\lambda-2)(\lambda-3)(\lambda-4) = \lambda^5 10\lambda^4 + 35\lambda^3 50\lambda^2 + 24\lambda$
- $P(K_4, \lambda) = \lambda(\lambda 1)(\lambda 2)(\lambda 3) = \lambda^4 6\lambda^3 + 11\lambda^2 6\lambda$
- $P(K_3, \lambda) = \lambda(\lambda 1)(\lambda 2) = \lambda^3 3\lambda^2 + 2\lambda$

So,  $P(C_5, \lambda) = (\lambda^5 - 10\lambda^4 + 35\lambda^3 - 50\lambda^2 + 24\lambda) + 5(\lambda^4 - 6\lambda^3 + 11\lambda^2 - 6\lambda) + 5(\lambda^3 - 3\lambda^2 + 2\lambda)$ 

 $P(C_5, \lambda) = \lambda^5 + (-10+5)\lambda^4 + (35-30+5)\lambda^3 + (-50+55-15)\lambda^2 + (24-30+10)\lambda$  $P(C_5, \lambda) = \lambda^5 - 5\lambda^4 + 10\lambda^3 - 10\lambda^2 + 4\lambda$ 

This is the correct chromatic polynomial for  $C_5$ . Using the standard formula for cycles:  $P(C_n, \lambda) = (\lambda - 1)^n + (-1)^n (\lambda - 1)$ . For  $C_5$ :  $P(C_5, \lambda) = (\lambda - 1)^5 + (-1)^5 (\lambda - 1) = (\lambda - 1)^5 - (\lambda - 1) = (\lambda - 1)[(\lambda - 1)^4 - 1] = (\lambda - 1)[\lambda^4 - 4\lambda^3 + 6\lambda^2 - 4\lambda + 1 - 1] = (\lambda - 1)[\lambda^4 - 4\lambda^3 + 6\lambda^2 - 4\lambda] = \lambda(\lambda - 1)[\lambda^3 - 4\lambda^2 + 6\lambda - 4] = \lambda(\lambda^4 - 4\lambda^3 + 6\lambda^2 - 4\lambda - \lambda^3 + 4\lambda^2 - 6\lambda + 4) = \lambda(\lambda^4 - 5\lambda^3 + 10\lambda^2 - 10\lambda + 4) = \lambda^5 - 5\lambda^4 + 10\lambda^3 - 10\lambda^2 + 4\lambda$ . The results match, confirming the decomposition method shown in your PDF (pages 6-9) is valid and leads to the correct polynomial for  $C_5$ .

## 5.6 Significance and Applications of Chromatic Polynomials

Chromatic polynomials have many theoretical uses and provide important insights, making them more than merely counting tools.

- Determining Chromatic Number: As noted, χ(G) is the smallest positive integer λ for which P(G, λ) > 0. Thus, if one can compute P(G, λ), one can find χ(G) by testing λ = 1, 2, ....
- Counting Valid Colorings: P(G, k) directly indicates how many possibilities there are to correctly color G with \*at most\* k specified colors. To find the number of ways to color G using \*exactly\* k colors, one needs to use inclusion-exclusion principles involving P(G, j) for j ≤ k, or specific coefficients of the chromatic polynomial in a different basis.

- Theoretical Insights into Graph Structure: The coefficients of P(G, λ) relate to the structure of G, such as the number of edges, triangles, and more complex subgraphs or acyclic orientations Stanley, 1973. For example, |P(G, -1)| counts the number of acyclic orientations of G.
- Connection to Four Color Theorem: The Four Color Theorem for planar graphs is equivalent to the statement that P(G, 4) > 0 for any planar graph *G*. Much historical work on chromatic polynomials was motivated by this connection.
- Algebraic Graph Theory: Chromatic polynomials are a central topic in algebraic graph theory, connecting graph properties to algebraic objects (polynomials). The study of their roots (chromatic roots) is an active area of research, with connections to statistical physics (e.g., the Potts model) and phase transitions Sokal, 2001. It is known that chromatic roots are dense in the complex plane but cannot lie in certain regions (e.g., (-∞, 0) ∪ (0, 1)).
- Network Reliability and Flow Polynomials: There are analogous polynomials in graph theory, such as flow polynomials (counting nowhere-zero flows) and reliability polynomials, which share some structural similarities with chromatic polynomials, often studied under the umbrella of Tutte polynomials Tutte, 1954. The chromatic polynomial is an evaluation of the Tutte polynomial  $T_G(x, y)$  at  $x = 1 \lambda$ , y = 0, up to a factor.

As your PDF (page 9) states: "The chromatic polynomial provides insight into the number of possible valid colorings of a graph, making it a valuable tool for tackling graph coloring challenges like task scheduling, resource allocation, and management. For planar graphs, the chromatic polynomial is used in examining graph coloring patterns, particularly in contexts where the Four Color Theorem applies."

# Chapter 6

# **Applications of Vertex Coloring**

Vertex coloring, while a fundamental concept in graph theory, derives much of its importance from its wide range of applications in solving real-world problems. Many practical scenarios involve managing conflicts, allocating scarce resources, or partitioning elements under certain constraints, all of which can often be modeled as graph coloring problems. This chapter explores several key application domains, demonstrating how the principles of vertex coloring provide elegant and effective solutions. As stated in the initial research (your PDF, page 4), "There are many applications of vertex coloring for example optimization issues, removes conflicts etc."

## 6.1 Scheduling and Timetabling Problems

Scheduling problems are among the most classic and prevalent applications of vertex coloring. These problems involve assigning events, tasks, or activities to specific time slots or resources while respecting a set of constraints or conflicts.

## 6.1.1 Exam Scheduling (Timetabling for Exams)

\*(This section incorporates your application example from pages 4-6 of your PDF)\* One of the most direct applications of vertex coloring is in creating timetables for examinations at educational institutions. The goal is to schedule exams into a minimum number of time slots such that no student has two exams scheduled at the same time.

## **Problem Formulation**

This can be represented as a graph coloring issue by:

- **Vertices:** In the graph *G*, every course (or test) is represented by a vertex.
- **Edges:** If at least one student is registered in both courses, an edge is drawn between the two vertices (courses). The fact that these two tests cannot be scheduled at the same time period indicates a conflict.
- **Colors:** The available colors represent distinct time slots.

In order to ensure that no two neighboring vertices (conflicting exams) acquire the same color, a correct vertex coloring of this "conflict graph" gives each vertex (exam) a color (time slot). This graph's chromatic number,  $\chi(G)$ , represents the smallest number of time slots needed to schedule every exam without any conflicts.

## **Example: University Course Scheduling**

\*(From your PDF, page 4)\* Suppose there are students of eight courses at a university: Hindi (H), English (E), Sanskrit (S), German (G), French (F), Korean (K), Russian (R), and Italian (I). The table below displays 'X' where courses share common students (and thus conflict).

The problem also states: "There are two lecture halls available at a time. Find the minimum number of time slots for students to attend the class without interfering with their other courses, using graph coloring." \*(Note:

Course	Η	E	S	G	F	K	R	Ι
Hindi(H)		X	X		Х		Х	Х
English(E)	Х		Х	X			Х	
Sanskrit(S)	Х	Х		X				X
German(G)		Х	X		Х	Х		
French(F)	Х			X		Х		
Korean(K)				X	Х		Х	
Russian(R)	Х	Х				Х		Х
Italian(I)	Х		X				Х	

Table 6.1: Course Conflicts for Exam Scheduling

The lecture hall constraint is usually a secondary problem after finding the minimum time slots. Graph coloring primarily addresses the time slot minimization. If a time slot has more exams than halls, those exams might need to be split or run sequentially within that slot if possible, or more halls are needed).\*

#### Constructing and Coloring the Conflict Graph

Let  $v_1 = H$ ,  $v_2 = E$ ,  $v_3 = S$ ,  $v_4 = G$ ,  $v_5 = F$ ,  $v_6 = K$ ,  $v_7 = R$ ,  $v_8 = I$ . The conflict graph based on Table 6.1 is constructed. \*(Ideally, insert a figure of this 8-vertex conflict graph here, like the one on page 5 of your PDF. For brevity, this is omitted but assumed constructed).\*

Following the procedures described in your PDF (pages 5-6), a coloring is obtained. Let 'a' represent Slot 1, 'b' represent Slot 2, 'c' represent Slot 3, etc. The PDF's coloring process (which resembles a greedy approach or RLF-like process) yields:

1. Color 'a' (Slot 1): The PDF assigns Hindi  $(v_1)$ , German  $(v_4)$ , and Korean  $(v_6)$  to Slot 1. Checking conflicts: (H,G)-No, (H,K)-No, (G,K)-Yes (from table). This assignment  $\{H, G, K\}$  is problematic because G and K conflict. A valid independent set for Slot 1 starting with H could be  $\{H\}$ . Or, if we pick largest degree first, H has 5 conflicts. E has 4. S has 4. G has 4. F has 3. K has 3. R has 4. I has 3. Let's try to follow the PDF's coloring if possible, assuming the figure on PDF page 6 top left (Color 'a') is  $\{v_1, v_4, v_6\}$ . If G and K conflict, this is an error in the PDF's example application. Assuming the conflict

table is paramount: A valid Slot 1: Start with H (degree 5). Color H with 'a'. Possible additions (non-adjacent to H): None from the list E,S,F,R,I. G and K are not adjacent to H. Check G: (H,G) no conflict. Add G. Check K: (H,K) no conflict. (G,K) conflict. So K cannot join H,G. Slot 1 (Color 'a'):  $\{H,G\}$ . This differs from the PDF's example coloring. For consistency with the provided text, we will assume the PDF's coloring steps are based on a graph where its chosen sets \*are\* independent. If the table is the ground truth, the PDF's example coloring is flawed. Let's assume the coloring steps provided in the PDF text were derived correctly from its internal graph model. PDF implies: *Slot 1 (Color 'a'): Hindi* ( $v_1$ ), *German* ( $v_4$ ), *Korean* ( $v_6$ ).

- 2. Color 'b' (Slot 2): PDF implies: *Slot* 2 (*Color* 'b'): *English* ( $v_2$ ), *French* ( $v_5$ ), *Russian* ( $v_7$ ). Checking conflicts for {E, F, R}: (E,F)-No, (E,R)-Yes. This set is also not independent based on the table.
- 3. Color 'c' (Slot 3): PDF implies: Slot 3 (Color 'c'): Sanskrit ( $v_3$ ), Italian ( $v_8$ ). Checking conflicts for {S, I}: (S,I)-Yes. This set is also not independent.

**Re-evaluation based on conflict table using a greedy approach:** Order vertices by degree (desc): H(5), E(4), S(4), G(4), R(4), F(3), K(3), I(3). (Ties broken alphabetically). Order: H, E, G, R, S, F, I, K. 1. H gets color 1. 2. E (adj H) gets color 2. 3. G (adj E, not H) gets color 1. (adj S from table, not E). E-G: Yes. S-G: Yes. Let's restart coloring carefully: Vertices: H, E, S, G, F, K, R, I. Colors:

Color 1: - Assign H to Color 1. UsedColors(H)=1. - E: Conflicts H. - S: Conflicts H. - G: No conflict H. Add G to Color 1. UsedColors(G)=1. - F: Conflicts H. - K: No conflict H. No conflict G. Add K to Color 1. UsedColors(K)=1. - R: Conflicts H. - I: Conflicts H. Slot 1: H, G, K — Wait, G and K conflict. So K cannot be with G. Corrected Slot 1: H, G. (K cannot join as it conflicts G). Remaining for Slot 1: From F, K, R, I, K was considered. F conflicts H. R conflicts H. I conflicts H. So, Slot 1: H, G.

Uncolored: E, S, F, K, R, I Color 2: - Assign E to Color 2. UsedColors(E)=2. - S: Conflicts E. - F: No conflict E. Add F to Color 2. UsedColors(F)=2. - K: No conflict E. No conflict F. Add K to Color 2. UsedColors(K)=2. (K conflicts F from table!) Corrected Slot 2: E, F. (K cannot join as it conflicts F). Remaining for Slot 2: R conflicts E. I doesn't conflict E or F. Add I. Slot 2: E, F, I. Uncolored: S, K, R Color 3: - Assign S to Color 3. UsedColors(S)=3. - K: No conflict S. Add K to Color 3. UsedColors(K)=3. - R: No conflict S. No conflict K. Add R to Color 3. UsedColors(R)=3. Slot 3: S, K, R.

All courses colored. Minimum 3 slots. Slot 1: Hindi (H), German (G) Slot 2: English (E), French (F), Italian (I) Slot 3: Sanskrit (S), Korean (K), Russian (R) This coloring uses 3 slots and respects Table 6.1.

#### **Interpreting the Solution**

Using the re-evaluated valid coloring, 3 distinct colors (time slots) are required. The schedule would be:

- **Slot 1:** Hindi, German
- Slot 2: English, French, Italian
- Slot 3: Sanskrit, Korean, Russian

Each slot has at most 3 exams. Since 2 lecture halls are available, Slot 2 and Slot 3 would require exams to be split or run sequentially if all are full-length, or some courses are small enough. The graph coloring gives the minimum number of time slots. Managing hall capacity per slot is a subsequent step. The primary result from coloring is the 3 time slots.

## 6.1.2 Task Scheduling in Operating Systems

In multiprogramming environments, various computational tasks or processes compete for shared resources (e.g., CPU, memory, I/O devices).

- Vertices: Tasks or processes.
- **Edges:** An edge connects two tasks if they require the same exclusive resource simultaneously or if there's a dependency that prevents concurrent execution.
- Colors: Time intervals or specific processor assignments.

Graph coloring can help determine the minimum time to complete all tasks or a feasible schedule that respects resource constraints. The chromatic number, for instance, indicates the smallest number of parallel time sessions required if colors stand in for time slots.

## 6.2 **Register Allocation in Compilers**

Efficient use of CPU registers is crucial for fast program execution. Compilers perform register allocation to assign program variables to the limited set of physical CPU registers.

- **Vertices:** Program variables or, more accurately, "live ranges" of variables (the portion of code where a variable holds a value that might be used).
- **Edges:** If two live ranges are "live" at the same time during the program, an edge joins them. Such variables cannot share the same register. This forms an "interference graph."
- Colors: The available physical CPU registers.

An interference graph colored with k, where k represents the number of accessible registers, corresponds to a valid register assignment. If  $\chi(G) > k$ , some variables must be "spilled" to memory, incurring a performance penalty. The objective is to minimize spills or use a maximum of k colors to color the graph Briggs et al., 1994; Chaitin, 1982.

## 6.3 Frequency Assignment in Wireless Communication

In wireless communication systems (e.g., GSM cellular networks, radio/TV broadcasting), transmitters must be assigned frequencies such that interference between them is minimized.

• Vertices: Transmitters or base stations.

- Edges: An edge connects two transmitters if they are geographically close enough that using the same or very similar frequencies would cause unacceptable interference. More complex models might involve different levels of interference (e.g., same channel, adjacent channel), leading to variations of the coloring problem (e.g., distance-k coloring).
- Colors: Available frequency channels.

The objective is to assign frequencies (colors) to transmitters such that no two "interfering" transmitters get the same frequency, typically aiming to use the minimum total number of frequencies or to minimize the total bandwidth used Hale, 1980.

## 6.4 Map Coloring

This is where graph coloring first appeared in history. The challenge is to color a map's regions so that no two areas that share a boundary have the same color.

- Vertices: Regions on the map.
- **Edges:** If two vertices' corresponding regions have a shared border, an edge—rather than just a point—connects them. Thus, a planar graph is created.
- **Colors:** Distinct colors for visual differentiation.

According to the Four Color Theorem, a planar graph can have a maximum of four colors applied to it ( $\chi(G) \le 4$  for planar *G*) Appel and Haken, 1977. While historically significant, direct applications are mostly illustrative or in cartography.

## 6.5 Other Applications

Vertex coloring finds applications in numerous other areas:

- **Sudoku Puzzles:** As mentioned in Chapter 2, solving a Sudoku puzzle is equivalent to finding a 9-coloring of a specific graph with 81 vertices, where some vertices have pre-assigned colors.
- **Circuit Design (VLSI):** In Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) chip design, coloring can be used for problems like assigning circuit components to layers on a chip to avoid unwanted interactions or for certain routing problems.
- Data Clustering and Partitioning: In some data analysis scenarios, items can be represented as vertices, and an edge might indicate dissimilarity or a constraint that they should not be in the same group. Colors can represent clusters or partitions.
- Air Traffic Flow Management: Assigning flight routes or time slots at airports to avoid collisions or congestion can be modeled using coloring, where flights are vertices and potential conflicts are edges.
- **Combinatorial Designs and Finite Geometries:** Certain problems in constructing combinatorial objects (like Steiner systems or Latin squares) can sometimes be related to graph coloring problems.

The versatility of the graph coloring model lies in its ability to abstract the notion of "conflict" or "constraint" between pairs of entities, making it applicable whenever such pairwise restrictions need to be managed in an assignment or partitioning task.

# Chapter 7

# **Further Analysis and Discussion**

Having explored various methods for vertex coloring, the theory of chromatic polynomials, and a range of applications, this chapter aims to provide a more nuanced analysis of certain aspects. We will delve into the computational complexity landscape of graph coloring, discuss the implications of its NP-hardness, touch upon approximation algorithms, and offer a more critical perspective on the heuristic methods discussed, including the adjacency matrix-based approach.

## 7.1 Case Study: Coloring a More Complex Graph (Optional)

This section might include a case study using a more intricate or sizable network than the previously utilized illustrative examples in order to offer a more useful understanding of the functionality and behavior of various coloring methods. For brevity, a full new case study is omitted here, but the principles would involve selecting a benchmark graph (e.g., from DI-MACS challenges, or a specific structured graph like a Mycielski graph), applying several algorithms (Greedy, Adjacency Matrix-based, DSATUR, RLF), and comparing the number of colors obtained, computational effort (qualitatively if manual), and closeness to known optimal  $\chi(G)$  if available.

## 7.1.1 Selection of a Benchmark Graph

For a hypothetical case study, one might choose a graph like the Petersen graph (10 vertices, 15 edges,  $\chi(G) = 3$ ) or a small Mycielski graph  $M_4$  (11 vertices, 20 edges,  $\chi(M_4) = 4$ , triangle-free). These are small enough for manual tracing yet non-trivial.

## 7.1.2 Application of Multiple Coloring Algorithms

Each chosen algorithm (Greedy with LF ordering, Adjacency Matrix method, DSATUR, RLF) would be applied step-by-step. For instance, for the Petersen graph:

- Greedy (LF): Often uses 3 colors.
- Adjacency Matrix Method: Would likely also yield 3 colors.
- DSATUR: Known to color Petersen graph with 3 colors.
- RLF: Would also likely yield 3 colors.

The interest would be in the specific choices made by each heuristic.

## 7.1.3 Comparison of Results and Observations

Observations would focus on ease of application, specific vertex orderings or choices, and whether optimal coloring was achieved. For graphs like Petersen, most good heuristics find the optimal. For  $M_4$ , results might vary more, offering better comparison.

## 7.2 Computational Complexity of Coloring Algorithms

Understanding the computational resources required by different coloring algorithms is crucial for their practical application.

The complexity of the **k-COLORABILITY** decision problem, which determines if a graph *G* is *k*-colorable, varies according to *k*:

- For k = 1, k-COLORABILITY is trivial (the graph must have no edges). Solvable in O(m) or O(n) time.
- For k = 2, 2-COLORABILITY is equivalent to checking if the graph is bipartite. This can be done efficiently in O(n+m) time using Breadth-First Search (BFS) or Depth-First Search (DFS) to detect odd cycles.
- For  $k \ge 3$ , k-COLORABILITY is NP-complete for general graphs Garey and Johnson, 1979; Karp, 1972. This implies that unless P=NP, no polynomial-time algorithm exists that can solve it for all instances.

A polynomial-time approach for determining the chromatic number  $\chi(G)$  (the **CHROMATIC NUMBER** optimization issue) would suggest a polynomial-time solution for k-COLORABILITY, making it an NP-hard problem.

#### **Complexity of Discussed Algorithms:**

- Exact Algorithms (e.g., Backtracking): As discussed in Chapter 4, these have worst-case exponential time complexity, typically in the order of O(k<sup>n</sup> · poly(n)) or similar, making them impractical for large graphs.
- Heuristic Algorithms:
  - *Greedy Algorithm:* O(n + m) or  $O(n\Delta)$  if vertex ordering is precomputed or simple. Sorting for specific orderings adds to this (e.g.,  $O(n \log n)$ ).
  - Adjacency Matrix-Based Method: If implemented as described in Chapter 4 (similar to RLF's color class construction), it would be around O(n · num\_colors · Δ) or O(n<sup>2</sup> · num\_colors) depending on how checking adjacencies within the growing color class is done. A simpler interpretation without robust independent set building would be faster but less effective.
  - *DSATUR:* Typically  $O(n^2)$  with straightforward data structures for updating saturation degrees.
  - *RLF*: Can be more expensive, often cited around  $O(n^3)$  or O(nm) due to the iterative construction of color classes and neighbor checks.

These polynomial complexities for heuristics make them viable for larger instances where exact solutions are out of reach.

## 7.3 NP-Hardness of Graph Coloring and Its Implications

The NP-hardness of finding  $\chi(G)$  and the NP-completeness of k-COLORABILITY (for  $k \ge 3$ ) have profound implications:

- 1. **No Efficient Optimal Algorithm Expected:** The existence of a polynomialtime algorithm capable of determining the precise chromatic number for any graph is extremely doubtful. An algorithm like that would suggest P=NP, a significant unresolved issue in computer science.
- 2. Focus on Heuristics and Approximation: For practical purposes, especially with large graphs, the focus shifts from finding guaranteed optimal solutions to finding good approximate solutions quickly using heuristic algorithms.
- 3. **Special Graph Classes:** Coloring issues can be solved in polynomial time for some constrained kinds of graphs. Among the examples are:
  - Bipartite graphs ( $\chi(G) \leq 2$ ).
  - Perfect graphs (where  $\chi(G) = \omega(G)$ ). The coloring of perfect graphs can be done in polynomial time Grötschel et al., 1981.
  - Graphs of bounded treewidth.
  - Interval graphs.
- 4. **Fixed Parameter Tractability:** While k-COLORABILITY is NP-complete, if *k* is considered a fixed parameter, the problem is fixed-parameter tractable for some parameters (e.g., treewidth). However, parameterized by *k* alone, it is W[1]-hard.

## 7.4 Approximation Algorithms and their Bounds

Given the difficulty of obtaining  $\chi(G)$ , the question of how well we can approximate it naturally arises. An  $\alpha$ -approximation algorithm for chromatic number is a polynomial-time algorithm that uses a maximum of  $\alpha \cdot \chi(G)$  colors to discover a coloring for any graph *G*.

Regretfully, it is also challenging to accurately imitate graph coloring:

- It is known that for any ε > 0, where n is the number of vertices, there
  is no polynomial-time method that can approximate χ(G) within a
  factor of n<sup>1-ε</sup> unless P=NP. Feige and Kilian, 1998; Zuckerman, 2007.
  This is a very strong inapproximability result.
- The simple greedy algorithm guarantees a coloring with at most Δ(G) + 1 colors. Since χ(G) ≥ 1, this is a (Δ(G) + 1)-approximation. In terms of ω(G) (clique number), some algorithms achieve better ratios for specific graph classes, but not for general graphs.
- For specific graph classes, better approximation ratios are sometimes possible. For example, for 3-colorable graphs, there are algorithms that can color them with  $O(n^c)$  colors for some small constant c (e.g.,  $O(\sqrt{n})$  or  $O(n^{0.2...})$  colors) Blum, 1994; Karger et al., 1998.

The hardness of approximation underscores the challenge of the graph coloring problem. Most practical heuristics, while often performing well on average or on typical instances, do not come with strong worst-case approximation guarantees relative to  $\chi(G)$ .

## 7.5 Strengths and Weaknesses of the Adjacency Matrix Method (Revisited)

The adjacency matrix-based coloring method, as detailed in Chapter 4 based on the initial research, presents an intuitive heuristic. Let's critically evaluate its position among other coloring strategies.

#### Strengths (Recap and Elaboration):

- **Intuitive Degree-Based Heuristic:** Prioritizing high-degree vertices is a common and often sensible strategy, as these vertices are typically the most constrained.
- **Potential for Large Independent Sets:** If Step 5 (coloring non-neighbors of the selected high-degree vertex) is implemented effectively to build maximal or large independent sets for each color class (as interpreted in the Chapter 4 example), it could lead to good colorings, similar in spirit to RLF's approach.
- **Simplicity (Conceptual):** The basic idea of using row sums and then finding non-conflicting vertices is relatively straightforward to grasp.

#### Weaknesses and Considerations:

- Sensitivity to Tie-Breaking: If multiple vertices have the same maximum degree, the choice among them can significantly impact the outcome. The current description ("Choose any one") lacks a sophisticated tie-breaking rule.
- Static vs. Dynamic Information: Relying solely on initial degrees (if Step 2 isn't updated based on the \*remaining uncolored subgraph\*) makes it a static heuristic. Dynamic heuristics like DSATUR, which update their criteria (saturation degree) as the coloring progresses, are often more adaptive and effective. (The example implementation in Chapter 4 implicitly used original degrees for selection from the set of currently uncolored vertices, which is a semi-dynamic approach).
- **Implementation of Color Class Formation (Step 5):** As highlighted in Chapter 4, the critical part is how the "other uncolored vertices" are chosen to share a color. The robust interpretation (building a maximal independent set for the current color) is more effective but also more complex to implement efficiently than a naive selection.
- **Comparison with Established Heuristics:** Without direct empirical comparison on benchmark graphs, it's difficult to definitively place its performance relative to DSATUR, RLF, or even various greedy orderings. While it shares features with degree-based greedy and RLF (if Step 5 is robust), its specific combination of steps might lead to unique performance characteristics.

• Efficiency for Sparse vs. Dense Graphs: If checking non-adjacency involves scanning rows/columns of an explicit adjacency matrix, it's efficient for dense graphs (O(n) per check). For sparse graphs, adjacency lists are usually preferred, and algorithms are often analyzed in terms of n and m. The method's description seems geared towards an adjacency matrix representation.

#### **Potential Enhancements:**

- Incorporate a more sophisticated tie-breaking rule in Step 3 (e.g., use saturation degree as a secondary criterion, or pick the one with fewest available subsequent moves).
- Explicitly define whether degrees are static (original graph) or dynamic (current uncolored subgraph) for vertex selection in Step 3. Dynamic is usually better.
- Ensure Step 5 rigorously builds a maximal independent set for each color class, possibly by adopting an RLF-like sub-procedure for this step.

This critical perspective helps in understanding where the proposed method fits and how it might be improved or compared.

# **Chapter 8**

# **Conclusion and Future Work**

This dissertation has undertaken a comprehensive study of vertex coloring in graph theory, exploring its fundamental concepts, various algorithmic methodologies, the analytical power of chromatic polynomials, and its diverse applications in solving real-world problems. This concluding chapter summarizes the key findings of this study, reiterates its contributions, acknowledges its limitations, and proposes potential avenues for future research in this vibrant and continuously evolving field.

## 8.1 Summary of Findings

The investigation into vertex coloring has yielded several key insights and affirmations:

- Fundamental Nature: With its fundamental idea of giving vertices colors so that no two adjacent vertices have the same color, vertex coloring is still a fundamental component of graph theory and offers a potent abstraction for resource partitioning and dispute resolution issues. A crucial graph parameter is the chromatic number, χ(G), which is the bare minimum of colors needed.
- Algorithmic Landscape: A spectrum of algorithms exists for vertex coloring.

- *Exact algorithms*, such as backtracking, can determine  $\chi(G)$  precisely but are generally limited to small graphs due to their exponential worst-case time complexity.
- Heuristic algorithms are essential for practical applications involving larger graphs. Simple greedy (sequential) coloring algorithms are easy to implement and provide a baseline, with their performance heavily influenced by vertex ordering. The adjacency matrix-based method explored offers an intuitive degree-based heuristic that, when implemented carefully, can resemble constructive heuristics like RLF. More sophisticated heuristics like DSATUR (Degree of Saturation) and RLF (Recursive Largest First) employ dynamic or constructive strategies to often achieve better quality colorings, albeit sometimes at a higher computational cost.
- Chromatic Polynomials: The chromatic polynomial,  $P(G, \lambda)$ , provides a rich analytical tool beyond just determining  $\chi(G)$ . It counts the number of ways to properly  $\lambda$ -color a graph and its properties (degree, coefficients, roots) reveal deeper structural information. The deletion-contraction principle offers a systematic, albeit often computationally intensive, method for its calculation, as illustrated by the detailed decomposition of the pentagon graph.
- **Applications' Breadth:** Vertex coloring is highly versatile, with significant applications in:
  - Scheduling and Timetabling: Demonstrated effectively by the exam scheduling problem, where courses become vertices, conflicts edges, and colors time slots.
  - *Resource Allocation:* Including register allocation in compilers and frequency assignment in wireless networks.
  - *Other Domains:* Ranging from map coloring and solving logic puzzles like Sudoku to potential uses in circuit design and data analysis.

The ability to model diverse constraint satisfaction problems makes vertex coloring a perennially relevant technique.

• Computational Complexity: The inherent NP-hardness of finding  $\chi(G)$  (for general graphs) and the NP-completeness of k-COLORABILITY

(for  $k \ge 3$ ) underscore the computational challenges. This also extends to the difficulty of approximating  $\chi(G)$  effectively in the worst case.

This study has aimed to connect these theoretical underpinnings, algorithmic approaches, and practical use-cases into a cohesive whole.

## 8.2 Contributions of the Study

While this dissertation is primarily an exposition and synthesis of existing knowledge, its contributions include:

1. **Comprehensive Overview:** It provides a consolidated and structured overview of vertex coloring, encompassing core theory, a range of algorithms from basic to more advanced heuristics, the intricacies of chromatic polynomials, and a survey of key applications, suitable for those seeking a broad understanding of the topic.

### 2. Detailed Elucidation of Specific Methods:

- The adjacency matrix-based coloring heuristic, drawn from the initial research proposal, has been formally presented with a refined procedural description, its application illustrated through a worked example, and its potential strengths and weaknesses discussed in context.
- In order to link visual decomposition processes to the final polynomial form, the computation of the chromatic polynomial for a pentagon using a particular decomposition approach (based on recognizing non-adjacent vertices) was described in detail, verifying the method shown in the source PDF.
- 3. Integration of Theory and Practice: The work consistently links theoretical concepts (like  $\chi(G)$  or  $P(G, \lambda)$ ) with how they are addressed by algorithms and how they manifest in practical problem-solving, particularly through the exam scheduling example (with corrections for validity).

4. Educational Resource: By systematically presenting definitions, algorithms (with pseudocode where appropriate), examples, and discussions of complexity and applications, this dissertation aims to serve as a useful educational resource for students and researchers new to or looking to refresh their understanding of graph coloring.

## 8.3 Limitations of the Current Work

It is important to acknowledge the limitations of this study:

- **Scope of Algorithms:** The dissertation focused on classical exact and heuristic algorithms. Advanced metaheuristics (e.g., genetic algorithms, simulated annealing, tabu search) and very recent algorithmic developments in graph coloring were not covered in depth.
- Empirical Analysis: The study did not include extensive empirical performance comparisons of the discussed algorithms on standard benchmark graph instances. Such analysis would provide more quantitative insights into their relative effectiveness but was beyond the scope of this primarily theoretical and illustrative work.
- **Depth of Specialized Topics:** While topics like chromatic roots or specific properties of chromatic polynomials for advanced graph classes were mentioned, they were not explored exhaustively. Similarly, variations of graph coloring (edge, list, total coloring) were only briefly noted.
- Novelty of Algorithms: The dissertation did not aim to propose new coloring algorithms or break new theoretical ground, focusing instead on a comprehensive review and detailed explanation of established concepts and methods, including the clear articulation and contextualization of the adjacency matrix heuristic.
- Adjacency Matrix Method Refinements: While the adjacency matrix method was presented and analyzed, further empirical testing and refinement (e.g., for Step 5 concerning color class formation, tiebreaking, dynamic degree updates) would be needed to fully ascertain its competitive performance against established state-of-the-art heuristics.

## 8.4 Directions for Future Research

The field of graph coloring remains active, with many interesting avenues for future research. Building upon the foundations laid in this dissertation, several directions can be pursued:

### 1. Hybrid and Adaptive Algorithms:

- Developing hybrid algorithms that combine the strengths of different heuristics (e.g., using RLF to get an initial good coloring or bound, then refining with local search or DSATUR-like principles).
- Designing adaptive algorithms that can dynamically choose or adjust their strategy based on the properties of the input graph encountered during the coloring process.

### 2. Empirical Evaluation and Benchmarking:

- Conducting rigorous empirical studies of the adjacency matrixbased method, possibly with proposed enhancements (as discussed in Chapter 7), against a wide range of established heuristics on standard benchmark graph coloring instances (e.g., DI-MACS challenge graphs).
- 3. **Parallel and Distributed Coloring Algorithms:** With the increasing availability of multi-core processors and distributed computing environments, developing efficient parallel algorithms for graph coloring, especially for very large graphs (e.g., web graphs, social networks), remains a significant challenge.

### 4. Graph Coloring in Emerging Applications:

- Exploring the application of vertex coloring and its variants to newer domains such as bioinformatics (e.g., analyzing protein interaction networks, gene regulatory networks), social network analysis (community detection with conflict avoidance), and complex systems modeling.
- Investigating coloring problems in dynamic graphs where the graph structure changes over time.

### 5. Deeper Study of Chromatic Polynomials and Roots:

- Further research into the properties of chromatic roots, their distribution in the complex plane for different graph families, and their connections to physical phenomena or other graph invariants.
- Developing more efficient algorithms for computing chromatic polynomials or their evaluations for large or specific classes of graphs.
- 6. Variants of Graph Coloring: Exploring in more detail other types of coloring problems, such as:
  - *List Coloring:* Where each vertex has its own list of permissible colors.
  - *Equitable Coloring:* Where the sizes of the color classes differ by at most one.
  - *Distance-k Coloring:* Where vertices at distance up to *k* must have different colors (relevant for frequency assignment).

And their respective algorithms, complexities, and applications.

7. **Machine Learning Approaches:** Investigating the potential of machine learning techniques (e.g., graph neural networks, reinforcement learning) to learn effective heuristics or policies for graph coloring, either for general graphs or specific graph classes.

The rich interplay between theoretical depth and practical relevance ensures that graph coloring will continue to be a fruitful area of study for mathematicians and computer scientists alike.

# Bibliography

- Appel, K., & Haken, W. (1977). Every planar map is four colorable. Part I: Discharging. *Illinois Journal of Mathematics*, 21(3), 429–490.
- Appel, K., Haken, W., & Koch, J. (1977). Every planar map is four colorable. Part II: Reducibility. *Illinois Journal of Mathematics*, 21(3), 491–567.
- Arnborg, S., Lagergren, J., & Seese, D. (1987). Problems easy for tree-decomposable graphs. In T. Lepistö & A. Salomaa (Eds.), *Automata, languages and programming* (pp. 38–51, Vol. 267). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Beraha, S., Kahane, J., & Weiss, N. J. (1975). Limits of chromatic zeros of some families of maps. *Journal of Combinatorial Theory, Series B*, 28(1), 52–65.
- Birkhoff, G. D. (1912). A determinant formula for the number of ways of coloring a map. *The Annals of Mathematics*, 14(1/2), 42–46.
- Blum, A. (1994). New approximation algorithms for graph coloring. *Journal of the ACM*, 41(3), 470–516.
- Brélaz, D. (1979). New methods to color the vertices of a graph. *Communications of the ACM*, 22(4), 251–256.
- Briggs, P., Cooper, K. D., & Torczon, L. (1994). Improvements to graph coloring register allocation. ACM Transactions on Programming Languages and Systems (TOPLAS), 16(3), 428–455.
- Brooks, R. L. (1941). On colouring the nodes of a network. *Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*, *37*(2), 194–197.
- Burke, E. K., & Petrovic, S. (2002). Recent research directions in automated timetabling. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 140(2), 266– 280.
- Cayley, A. (1879). On the colouring of maps. *Proceedings of the Royal Geographical Society and Monthly Record of Geography*, 1(4), 259–261.
- Chaitin, G. J. (1982). Register allocation & spilling via graph coloring. ACM SIGPLAN Notices, 17(6), 98–105.

- Christofides, N. (1971). An algorithm for the chromatic number of a graph. *The Computer Journal*, 14(1), 38–39.
- Chudnovsky, M., Robertson, N., Seymour, P., & Thomas, R. (2006). The strong perfect graph theorem. *Annals of Mathematics*, *164*(1), 51–229.

Diestel, R. (2017). Graph theory (5th, Vol. 173). Springer.

- Dirac, G. A. (1952). Some theorems on abstract graphs. *Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society*, s3-2(1), 69–81.
- Feige, U., & Kilian, J. (1998). Zero knowledge and the chromatic number. *Journal of Computer and System Sciences*, 57(2), 187–199.
- Galinier, P., & Hao, J.-K. (1999). Hybrid evolutionary algorithms for graph coloring. *Journal of Combinatorial Optimization*, 3(4), 379–397.
- Gamst, A. (1986). Some lower bounds for a class of frequency assignment problems. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 35(1), 8–14.
- Garey, M. R., & Johnson, D. S. (1979). *Computers and intractability: A guide* to the theory of NP-completeness. W. H. Freeman.
- Grötschel, M., Lovász, L., & Schrijver, A. (1981). The ellipsoid method and its consequences in combinatorial optimization. *Combinatorica*, 1(2), 169–197.
- Hale, W. K. (1980). Frequency assignment: Theory and applications. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 68(12), 1497–1514.
- Hertz, A., & de Werra, D. (1990). The tabu search metaheuristic: How we used it. *Annals of Mathematics and Artificial Intelligence*, 1(1), 111–121.
- Karger, D., Motwani, R., & Sudan, M. (1998). Approximate graph coloring by semidefinite programming. *Journal of the ACM*, 45(2), 246–265.
- Karp, R. M. (1972). Reducibility among combinatorial problems. In R. E. Miller & J. W. Thatcher (Eds.), *Complexity of computer computations* (pp. 85–103). Plenum Press.
- Kempe, A. B. (1879). On the geographical problem of the four colours. *American Journal of Mathematics*, 2(3), 193–200.
- Kőnig, D. (1936). *Theorie der endlichen und unendlichen graphen*. Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft.
- Lawler, E. L. (1973). *Polynomial-bounded and (apparently) non-polynomialbounded problems* [Unpublished manuscript, University of California, Berkeley. (Often cited for early work on complexity related to coloring)].
- Leighton, F. T. (1979). A graph coloring algorithm for large scheduling problems. *Journal of Research of the National Bureau of Standards*, 84(6), 489–506.
- Read, R. C. (1968). An introduction to chromatic polynomials. *Journal of Combinatorial Theory*, 4(1), 52–71.

- Robertson, N., Sanders, D. P., Seymour, P. D., & Thomas, R. (1997). The four-colour theorem. *Journal of Combinatorial Theory, Series B*, 70(1), 2–44.
- Sokal, A. D. (2001). Bounds on the complex zeros of (di)chromatic polynomials and Potts-model partition functions. *Combinatorics, Probability and Computing, 10*(1), 41–77.
- Stanley, R. P. (1973). Acyclic orientations of graphs. *Discrete Mathematics*, 5(2), 171–178.
- Tutte, W. T. (1954). A contribution to the theory of chromatic polynomials. *Canadian Journal of Mathematics*, *6*, 80–91.
- Welsh, D. J. A., & Powell, M. B. (1967). An upper bound for the chromatic number of a graph and its application to timetabling problems. *The Computer Journal*, *10*(1), 85–86.
- West, D. B. (2001). Introduction to graph theory (2nd). Prentice Hall.
- Whitney, H. (1932). A logical expansion in mathematics. *Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society*, *38*(8), 572–579.
- Wilson, R. (2002). *Four colors suffice: How the map problem was solved*. Princeton University Press.
- Zuckerman, D. (2007). Linear degree extractors and the inapproximability of Max Clique and Chromatic Number. *Theory of Computing*, *3*(1), 103–128.
- Zykov, A. A. (1949). On some properties of linear complexes. *Matematicheskii Sbornik*, 24 (66)(2), 163–188.



Shruti Kaushik <shrutikaushik2701@gmail.com>

# Acceptance of Abstract for 3rd International Conference on Recent Trends in Mathematical Sciences (ICRTMS-2025)

ICRTMS2025 <icrtms25hgp@gmail.com> To: shrutikaushik2701@gmail.com 22 April 2025 at 19:20

Dear Shruti Kaushik I hope you are doing well.

We are pleased to inform you that the Conference Committee reviewed your abstract titled "A Comprehensive Study of Vertex Coloring in Graph Theory: Methods,

Applications, and Chromatic Polynomials" and has approved for presentation at "3<sup>rd</sup> International Conference on Recent Trends in Mathematical Sciences (ICRTMS- 2025)" scheduled to be held on 10<sup>th</sup> – 11<sup>th</sup> May, 2025 at Himachal Pradesh University, Shimla, H. P., India in Hybrid mode.

We believe that your presentation will make a valuable contribution to the conference. Your Paper ID is ICRTMS\_185

We request you to **fill the registration form,** if not done already, and mail your **full length paper in PDF format** latest by **25<sup>th</sup> April, 2025.** Please feel free to contact us for any queries. To register, please fill out the Google Form available at the link: https://forms.gle/X1qh8EtQetFBoXLe9

### **Lodging Arrangement**

The organizing committee of ICRTMS-2025 makes arrangements for the stay of participants in nearby guest houses and hotels. The participants are free to exercise their choice about their stay for which they have to immediately contact the concerned guest house or hotel. The participants are requested to book their accommodation by the end of March, 2025 as in the months of May and June there is tourist season in Shimla.

Hotel City Inn: Situated at Lower Summer Hill and is about 500 meters from the venue.

Tariff: Rs. 560/- per person in double or triple sharing rooms.

### **Contact Details: +91-9418487752**

Hotel Green View: Situated at Sangti and is about 1 km from the venue.

**Tariff**: Rs. 1000/- per person in double or triple sharing room with Balcony and Rs. 750/- per person in double or triple sharing room without Balcony.

### Contact Details: +91-98166-87459, +91-70186-26662, +91-78071-86043

Hotel Ganga Palace: Situated at Summer Hill, Shimla and is about 100 meters from the venue.

Tariff: Rs. 3200/- per room (2 persons allowed), extra bed available (total 3 persons).

**Group booking:** Rs 900/- per person (4 persons per room) **Manager:** Divesh Rathore

Contact Details: +91-8262858998

Thank you for your contribution to the conference.

On behalf of organizing committee

#### Dr. Neetu Dhiman

Convener ICRTMS- 2025 Contact-+91-7018451738 Conference Website: https://icrtms25.hgp.org.in









## HIMACHAL GANITA PARISHAD

(REGISTERED UNDER H.P. SOCIETIES REGISTRATION ACT 2006)

## **3<sup>rd</sup> INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON RECENT TRENDS IN**

## **MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES (ICRTMS-2025)**

10<sup>th</sup>-11<sup>th</sup> May, 2025

## **CERTIFICATE OF APPRECIATION**

This is to certify that **Ms. Shruti Kaushik, UG/PG Student, Delhi Technological University** has presented a research paper entitled **A Comprehensive Study of Vertex Coloring in Graph Theory: Methods, Applications, and Chromatic Polynomials in 3rd International Conference on Recent Trends in Mathematical Sciences (ICRTMS-2025)** organized by the Himachal Ganita Parishad (HGP) at Himachal Pradesh University, Shimla on 10th-11th May, 2025.

han

Dr. Kamalendra Kumar Co-Convener

Dr. Neetu Dhiman Convener

Dr. Shalini Gupta President (HGP)

# DISSERTATION (2).pdf

### ORIGINALITY REPORT

9 SIMILA	<b>%</b> IRITY INDEX	<b>8%</b> INTERNET SOURCES	<b>7%</b> PUBLICATIONS	<b>6%</b> STUDENT PAPERS
PRIMAR	Y SOURCES			
1	Submitte Student Paper	ed to Delhi Tech	nological Univ	versity 1%
2	vdoc.pub			1 %
3	dokumer	•		<1 %
4	dtu.ac.in	2		<1%
5	Submitte Student Paper	ed to University	of Durham	<1%
6	WWW.ger	neseo.edu		<1%
7	Submitte Pakistan Student Paper	ed to Higher Ed	ucation Comm	nission <1%
8	docshare			<1 %
9	Lecture N Publication	Notes in Compu	uter Science, 2	013. < <b>1</b> %

10	Submitted to University of Witwatersrand Student Paper	<1%
11	Xiao Wang, Baoyindureng Wu. "Upper bounds on the chromatic number of triangle-free graphs with a forbidden subtree", Journal of Combinatorial Optimization, 2015 Publication	<1%
12	Submitted to University of Birmingham Student Paper	<1%
13	www.ukrbaptist.com	<1%
14	dspace.dtu.ac.in:8080 Internet Source	<1%
15	"Product Lifecycle Management in the Digital Twin Era", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2019 Publication	<1%
16	tel.archives-ouvertes.fr	<1%
17	Koh, Khee Meng, Fengming Dong, Kah Loon Ng, and Eng Guan Tay. "Fundamental Concepts and Basic Results", Graph Theory, 2015. Publication	<1%
18	nozdr.ru Internet Source	<1%

19	J. Umamaheswari, R. Mithra. "The study of edge coloring and chromatic graph theory and its applications", Materials Today: Proceedings, 2021 Publication	<1%
20	Submitted to Jawaharlal Nehru University (JNU) Student Paper	<1%
21	dbai.tuwien.ac.at Internet Source	<1%
22	nzdr.ru Internet Source	<1%
23	WWW.COURSEHERO.COM	<1%
24	export.arxiv.org	<1%
25	Submitted to Christ University Student Paper	<1%
26	Submitted to Taylor's Education Group	<1%
27	Submitted to AlHussein Technical University Student Paper	<1%
28	Submitted to Queensland University of Technology Student Paper	<1%

29	arxiv.org Internet Source	<1 %
30	catalog.uttyler.edu Internet Source	<1%
31	cosc.canterbury.ac.nz Internet Source	<1%
32	ebin.pub Internet Source	<1%
33	epdf.pub Internet Source	<1%
34	epdf.tips Internet Source	<1%
35	projecteuclid.org	<1%
36	Submitted to Universiti Malaysia Terengganu UMT <sup>Student Paper</sup>	<1%
37	www.arxiv-vanity.com	<1%
38	www.math.cuhk.edu.hk Internet Source	<1%
39	Submitted to 7034 Student Paper	<1%

40	Gross, Jonathan, Jay Yellen, Lowell Beineke, and Robin Wilson. "Introduction to Graphs", Discrete Mathematics and Its Applications, 2003. Publication	<1%
41	Tuza, Zsolt, Gregor Gutin, Michael Plurnmer, Alan Tucker, Edmund Burke, Dominique Werra, and Jeffrey Kingston. "Colorings and Related Topics", Discrete Mathematics and Its Applications, 2003. Publication	<1%
42	ia902501.us.archive.org	<1%
43	scholarship.rice.edu Internet Source	<1%
44	theses.fr Internet Source	<1%
45	Assefaw H. Gebremedhin, Duc Nguyen, Md. Mostofa Ali Patwary, Alex Pothen. "ColPack", ACM Transactions on Mathematical Software, 2013 Publication	<1%
46	Submitted to Chulalongkorn University Student Paper	<1%
47	Submitted to Indian Institute of Technology, Madras	<1%